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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Good afternoon.

          3  Today the New York City Council's Committee on

          4  Transportation is conducting an oversight hearing on

          5  the operation of the New York City Transit Automated

          6  Fare Card System, MetroCard.

          7                 The Committee and the Council, as a

          8  whole, have long supported the creation and

          9  development of MetroCard.  I believe that MetroCard

         10  has been a significant improvement for the riding

         11  public.  However, while MetroCard offers benefits

         12  that are of great value, such as time saved through

         13  the avoidance of long token lines, and money saved

         14  through free transfers and bonus cards, it also has

         15  problems, problems with swiping, problems with

         16  double deductions, which could run into the millions

         17  of dollars, which would be a bonus for the Transit

         18  Authority, of course, and out of the pockets of the

         19  transit riders.  And now it is the unlimited ride

         20  MetroCard's problems with lockouts.

         21                 It was the swiping problems, the

         22  double deductions problem, that the Council to

         23  review MetroCard in 1998.  At that time, the City

         24  Council conducted a survey of riders, used paid for

         25  ride MetroCards, what this survey found was that the
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          2  most people complained about having swiping

          3  problems, further still, many people were unaware

          4  that they could have two fares deducted from their

          5  cards if they switched turnstiles in response to

          6  some swiping problems.  Additionally, most of these

          7  riders noted that they had actually been switching

          8  turnstiles.  Other riders, in fact, knew of these

          9  problems and stated they had been the victims of

         10  double deductions.  A result of the Council's

         11  survey, the TA posted signs throughout the subway,

         12  instructing passengers in how to avoid being double

         13  deducted.  But they did not address some of the

         14  systematic MetroCard problems that led riders to

         15  change turnstiles in the first place, namely, card

         16  deterioration and turnstile equipment failure.

         17                 This infraction on the part of the TA

         18  and their ongoing unwillingness to admit that a

         19  significant problem exists with swiping, has now led

         20  unlimited MetroCard users into a new problem, being

         21  locked out of subways.  It is for this and other

         22  reasons that Speaker Vallone and I directed to the

         23  Council's Office of Oversight Investigation to once

         24  again survey MetroCard users about their experience

         25  of the Metrocard.
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          2                 After surveying over 1,000 per ride

          3  and unlimited MetroCard users in February and March

          4  of 1999, Council staff found that the types of

          5  problems experiencing by riders are growing.  The

          6  Council, as a result, are being issued today with

          7  the report that I am holding entitled, "Unlimited

          8  MetroCard Problems."  This is a report that we just

          9  put out today, and I want to thank the

         10  Investigation, The Oversight Investigation Unit for

         11  doing a great job and for telling it like it is, and

         12  for basically, letting us know that there is,

         13  obviously, a problem which we have uncovered, which

         14  we hope that the Transit Authority will, obviously,

         15  address.

         16                 It's very interesting and to talk

         17  about this Oversight Unit of the City Council, we

         18  have had other investigations and we have come out

         19  with reports, particularly after the crash on the

         20  Williamsburg Bridge.  And I remember that when we

         21  announced that report, and we released the report,

         22  the Transit Authority at that point, of course,

         23  criticized us and knocked us and told us we were not

         24  accurate, and only several months later did they

         25  adopt almost everything that our report had to say.
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          2                 I know in the past we have said, we

          3  have given some suggestions to the Transit

          4  Authority, and, of course, the immediate reaction is

          5  to knock us, then subsequently to adopt our

          6  recommendations.  We hope, today, that they take our

          7  recommendations and take it seriously, so we can

          8  benefit both the riding public and the people who,

          9  obviously, use the MetroCard, and so they don't have

         10  to come to a difficult time when they go through the

         11  system, that their card is not letting them enter

         12  and for what they purchased their card is not being

         13  useful for them at that particular time.  I think in

         14  some ways it can almost be a scam when it is almost

         15  double the thing when you take twice or three times

         16  money from their card, deducted from their card, or

         17  when you have an unlimited card and you get locked

         18  out and you're late for your train, or you're

         19  concerned about being late for work, you wind up

         20  taking out money to pay for the fare, and you don't

         21  get that refunded.

         22                 The Council's 1999 Survey confirms

         23  that a large percentage of the riders interviewed

         24  are still experiencing swiping problems.  Further

         25  swiping inconveniences are still having immediate
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          2  financial ramifications for paid- for- ride

          3  MetroCard users.  The survey found that the paid-

          4  for- ride MetroCard users remain victims of double

          5  deductions.  In fact, 31 percent of the survey

          6  riders, used a paid- for- ride MetroCard, stated

          7  that they have in fact been double deducted when

          8  they changed turnstiles after experiencing swiping

          9  problems.

         10                 The Council's new survey also found

         11  that the swiping problems plagues unlimited ride

         12  card holder, 32 percent of the survey riders, who

         13  used unlimited MetroCards, stated that they have

         14  been locked out of the subway system when they have

         15  changed turnstiles after experiencing swiping

         16  problem.

         17                 I believe that a systematic problem

         18  exists with the MetroCard swiping.  I know that the

         19  TA has data on swiping and tracks this problem, and

         20  has refused to release this data to the public.  Who

         21  would build a multi- billion dollar automated fare

         22  card system and not track how it is working at the

         23  most fundamental level, it's  success or failure at

         24  the turnstile?  Nobody.  The TA's unwillingness to

         25  release this information can only lead me to one
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          2  conclusion, something is being hidden, I want to

          3  know what that something is.

          4                 Today the Committee will also be

          5  voting on Intro. 472- B in relation to standard of

          6  conduct for drivers of taxicabs and fire vehicles.

          7  This bill has been amended and those amendments are

          8  discussed in the community reports located at the

          9  side table.

         10                 I just want to state publicly the

         11  recommendations that we have made, particularly to

         12  improve the system.  One is, while the TA is trying

         13  to figure out what the problem is, is one of the

         14  things they should be doing immediately is that

         15  giving the token booth clerks the authority to wave

         16  people in, if they find that their card has been

         17  locked out.  When they see that the person has an

         18  unlimited card, they already paid for the system,

         19  it's not like you're letting someone through as a

         20  favor, obviously, someone has paid already for that

         21  card and has a right to go into the system.  And,

         22  also, to instruct the Police Department, those who

         23  do the undercover work and try to go after the

         24  turnstile jumpers, and we have somebody here who has

         25  been a victim to that when they were locked out of
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          2  the system, is to give them discretion and to have

          3  discretion when someone is not really stealing, it

          4  is no theft of services, because they have paid for

          5  it, they pre- paid for it, they don't have to pay

          6  twice for it.  And the other thing that I am

          7  demanding of the Transit Authority is some sort of

          8  mechanism where they publicly let the consumer know

          9  that if they get locked out and they have to take

         10  money out of their pockets, and they have to pay for

         11  that ride, they should get a refund, there should be

         12  some mechanism for a refund.

         13                 It's only fair.  Could you imagine

         14  going into a store, paying for the item and not

         15  getting it, and you leave the store and saw you

         16  didn't get the item, you go back, they say, well, if

         17  you want that item you have to pay for it?  You just

         18  paid for that item, I mean, obviously, you would

         19  have to get it, you wouldn't have to pay twice for

         20  that item.  I mean that would be some scam, some

         21  operation, some business.  I would like to have a

         22  business like that where you pay for something twice

         23  or three times.  So I hope that the TA takes our

         24  suggestions and heeds to our concerns, and rectifies

         25  it in a way that makes this consumer friendly.
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          2                 I'm calling upon now the two victims

          3  that have a horror story, I think each one

          4  individually.  Would you come forward, please?

          5                 While they're getting ready, I just

          6  want to, again, thank the Oversight Investigation

          7  Unit, Catherine McAlevey, the Director, and all the

          8  staff people that worked on this so diligently, and

          9  I hope that they will see the fruits of their labor

         10  today and subsequent to this meeting.

         11                 Do you want to identify yourself for

         12  the record?

         13                 MR. YOUNG:  Yes, my name is Will

         14  Young.  Is that good?  Okay.  I guess I'm the first

         15  victim, so I should go ahead? Okay.

         16                 As I said, my name is Will Young.  I

         17  have lived in Brooklyn for the past six years, and

         18  I'm currently employed as a free- lance commercial

         19  artist.  This is an account of the personal problems

         20  I encountered when I tried to use the unlimited

         21  MetroCard on July 21st, 1998 at the Rockefeller

         22  Center Station at Midtown, Manhattan.

         23                 Let's see, during the afternoon of

         24  July 21st, I was trying to get down to 39th Street

         25  and 6th Avenue, but the street was closed because of
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          2  a scaffolding collapsed at the Conde Nast Building

          3  at Times Square.  Since I had a valid unlimited

          4  MetroCard, I decided to try to take the subway one

          5  stop from the 47th Street/50th Street Station to the

          6  42nd Street Station.  I had last used the card at

          7  2:12 p.m., and it was around 3:45 p.m. That I

          8  started swiping at the turnstile.  Immediately a

          9  swipe again notice appeared, so I swiped again, and

         10  again, and again.

         11                 This must have gone on for

         12  approximately 10 minutes, during which time I heard

         13  several trains come and go on the tracks beneath me.

         14    Growing increasingly frustrated, I moved over to

         15  the turnstile next to me and tried the card there,

         16  but to no avail. After I swiped the card, a just

         17  used notice appeared.  Looking over at the long

         18  lines forming at the station clerk's booth from the

         19  scaffolding collapse, I realized that waiting there

         20  would take at least another half- hour.  At that

         21  point, I had done everything in my power to get the

         22  card to work, and technically my fare was already

         23  covered, since I had prepaid $63 for the unlimited

         24  MetroCard, so I slipped through the turnstile.

         25                 Right away I was accosted by an
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          2  undercover police officer who started to right a

          3  ticket for fare evasion.  When I tried to politely

          4  explain what happened, he twice threatened to arrest

          5  me, so much for courtesy, professionalism, and

          6  respect.  He said that he had watched everything

          7  that had happened, and only after he had finished

          8  writing me up did he let met speak.

          9                 One might think that the whole

         10  episode could have been avoided if the police

         11  officer had used a little common sense and deduced

         12  that I had no reason to enter the system unlawfully,

         13  given that I was using an unlimited MetroCard.  I

         14  even offered to let him go swipe the card at the

         15  station clerk's booth in order to determine that it

         16  was, indeed, an unlimited MetroCard, but he

         17  declined.  Instead he just gave me the ticket and

         18  told me to go to the Transit Adjudication Bureau.

         19                 Before I went to the Transit

         20  Adjudication Bureau, however, I made a stop at the

         21  New York City Transit Travel Information Center at

         22  370 Jay Street in order to pickup a computer

         23  printout of the daily usage of my unlimited

         24  MetroCard.  The printout had no record of any

         25  activity at 3:45 p.m., and when I asked one of the
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          2  employees about this, his attitude was that the

          3  system doesn't fail, so I must not have been trying

          4  to swipe my card at that time.  When I told him I

          5  had the ticket to prove it, he told me to take it up

          6  with the Transit Adjudication Bureau.

          7                 After that I did as he advised and

          8  scheduled a hearing for July 23rd, 1998.  Going into

          9  the hearing I felt pretty confident about my case,

         10  and at first hearing Officer #1172 seemed fairly

         11  receptive to my arguments.  I explained everything

         12  that happened and she seemed to agree that

         13  technically I had already paid for my rides and so

         14  therefore I wasn't evading the affair. But she said

         15  something about having to check the precedent, which

         16  seemed odd given that the system was so new, and

         17  since I couldn't wait around the verdict was sent to

         18  me in the mail.

         19                 One can imagine how surprised I was

         20  when I read the judgement and it said, the TA has

         21  proven a violation by clear and convincing evidence.

         22    Again, it seems that my case could have been

         23  easily resolved had the hearing officer actually

         24  thought about the facts and just used a little

         25  common sense.
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          2                 After my hearing, my only option was

          3  to appeal, but to do so, I had to first pay the $60

          4  fine.  I did end up filing an appeal on August 21st,

          5  1998, and at this time I am still waiting to hear

          6  back from the Transit Adjudication Bureau.  In my

          7  appeal, in addition to reviewing everything that

          8  happened to me, I expounded upon some of the overall

          9  problems with the MetroCard and the MTA. In

         10  particular, I noted that the unlimited MetroCard has

         11  technical problems which the MTA is aware of, but

         12  has not dealt with adequately.  After my hearing, I

         13  did some research and discovered that at times Metro

         14  passes don't work and the swipe again notice arises.

         15    If the unlimited Metro pass is swiped at another

         16  turnstile, the just used notice appears and the card

         17  can't be swiped for another 18 minutes.

         18                 The MTA was made aware of these

         19  unforeseen flaws through complaints and articles in

         20  local papers, but I don't think it has done enough

         21  to deal with it.  Small signs were placed in subway

         22  stations explaining the situation, but nobody has

         23  the power to actually do anything when a rider like

         24  myself has a card that doesn't work.  Right now the

         25  Metro pass pamphlet instructs a rider to send the
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          2  card to customer service, but this could take four

          3  to six weeks to resolve.  Again, I don't think this

          4  is really a viable solution for the unlimited Metro

          5  pass.

          6                 I bought the card by paying $63 up

          7  front, for one month's worth of unlimited rides, and

          8  I don't plan on having to send it in and buy a new

          9  one every time it doesn't work.  Let me point out

         10  that I learned at the time of my hearing that the

         11  MTA has not released the statistical information on

         12  the frequency of malfunctioning Metro passes,

         13  another example, of the failure to deal with the

         14  problem.  There is no way of knowing how systemic

         15  the problem is, apart from word of mouth, which is

         16  growing louder all the time according to the

         17  Straphangers Campaign.

         18                 When all of this is taken into

         19  account, it is clear that the unlimited Metro pass

         20  is not without flaws, something that is to be

         21  expected from a new program.  Therefore, the MTA

         22  needs to take greater responsibility in dealing with

         23  the technical problems with the card, as well as the

         24  consequences of those problems.

         25                 In my case, I did everything in my
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          2  power to lawfully enter the transit system using a

          3  pre- paid Metro pass with unlimited rides, but I was

          4  prevented from doing so because of both technical

          5  problems with the card and inadequate measures taken

          6  by the MTA. Consequently, I believe that the Transit

          7  Adjudication Bureau should have recognized these

          8  problems, used a little bit of common sense and

          9  dismissed the case against me.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Next, identify

         12  yourself for the record?  And thank you.

         13                 MS. MIGNON:  My name is Mira Mignon.

         14  In the early morning of August 6th, 1998, around

         15  1:00 a.m., I began my trip home after seeing a

         16  concert.  Although it was late and I was alone, I

         17  decided to walk to the nearest subway station rather

         18  than taking a taxi because I was carrying no cash.

         19                 I entered the Broadway/Lafayette

         20  Station with the intention of boarding the D Train

         21  for my home in Brooklyn.  I attempted to pay my fair

         22  with my 30- day unlimited ride MetroCard, which I

         23  had purchased 19 days earlier.  When I swiped my

         24  card through the turnstile meter it read swipe

         25  again.  I tried again, about 15 times to get the
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          2  reader to accept my MetroCard, finally, I approached

          3  the agent in the token booth and I asked him if he

          4  could, please check my card as it didn't seem to be

          5  working properly.

          6                 The MTA employee on duty failed to

          7  make eye contact with me and in an annoyed tone of

          8  voice said only, my computers are down.  I asked

          9  again if there was any way he could check my card to

         10  see if there was something wrong with it, and this

         11  time he looked up and he said, look, I can't help

         12  you, my computers are down, I can't do anything

         13  right now.  I explained to him that I had purchased

         14  a 30- day unlimited trip MetroCard and that I knew

         15  it was expired.  I asked if I could please be let

         16  through the service entrance since the turnstile

         17  wouldn't read my card, and there appeared to be no

         18  way to determine if the card was broken or damaged.

         19  The MTA employer replied, No, I can't do that.

         20                 Exasperated, I then asked the

         21  employee what he would suggest that I do.  I have no

         22  idea, he said, and again repeated, I can't help you.

         23                 I approached a different turnstile

         24  and again tried to swipe my card.  On each of the 15

         25  or 20 additional attempts that I made the screen
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          2  read swipe again.  I don't know if my card was

          3  damaged or if the turnstile card readers just needed

          4  to be cleaned.

          5                 I saw the display screen above the

          6  stairway flash, indicating that my train was coming.

          7    As I heard the train approaching, I was forced to

          8  make a difficult decision.  One option was to risk

          9  my personal safety by going back out into the street

         10  to try to find a cash machine in a neighborhood that

         11  I was not too familiar with at the time.  I should

         12  point out that my fears in doing this were not

         13  completely unjustified.  Earlier that night as I was

         14  walking from the club to the subway station, I was

         15  approached and propositioned by a stranger.  I was

         16  harassed by a group of people who were drinking

         17  publicly on the sidewalk, and I also witnessed what

         18  appeared to be someone buying and selling illegal

         19  drugs in a parking lot.

         20                 So other than going back out and

         21  trying to find a cash machine, the other option I

         22  felt I had was to bypass the turnstile and get on my

         23  train.  My reasoning went as follows:  I have

         24  already paid in advance for my 30- days of unlimited

         25  subway rides, I would not be stealing anything.  I
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          2  made a good faith attempt to try to get my card to

          3  work.  I asked the MTA employee on duty to help me,

          4  only to be snubbed as if I was pestering him.  I

          5  really didn't see the harm in going this route and I

          6  therefore ducked under the turnstile and began

          7  walking toward the stairs to the subway platform.

          8                 I was interrupted, however, when two

          9  young men, who had been sitting on a bench inside

         10  the subway station watching the entire sequence of

         11  events I have just described, they jumped up and

         12  shouted at me, "Miss, you're under arrest!  Come

         13  this way please."

         14                 My initial reaction was one of

         15  disbelief.  I was certain that this was some sort of

         16  practical joke and that the MTA agent was in on it

         17  as well.  After all, these guys had seen how hard I

         18  was trying to play by the rules.  Evidently, the

         19  expression on my face was a little too amused,

         20  because one of the young men flashed his badge at

         21  me, indicating he was indeed an undercover

         22  policeman, and he said something to the effect of

         23  what's so funny?

         24                 I told them I thought this was

         25  ridiculous.  I couldn't believe they were wasting
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          2  their time on a sting operation such as this.  There

          3  were obviously far more dangerous situations to be

          4  addressed by the police.  Instead, these two

          5  officers were preying upon a well- intentioned

          6  citizen who fell victim to the faulty equipment and

          7  unreliable computer systems that are allegedly

          8  maintained by the MTA.

          9                 As I protested the unfairness of my

         10  arrest, one of the policemen became irritated with

         11  me and threatened to throw me in jail for the night

         12  unless I kept my mouth shut until the Sergeant

         13  showed up.  He described for me the treatment that

         14  awaited in the women's prison as he began to write

         15  me a citation.  As he asked me a series of routine

         16  questions in an extremely condescending tone, he

         17  attempted to intimidate and threaten me by

         18  describing the treatment that awaited me in the

         19  women's prison, he told me just to be quiet and wait

         20  for the Sergeant.

         21                 As I waited in the subway station, it

         22  was about an hour before the Sergeant showed up,

         23  when he arrived, he took my MetroCard from me and

         24  ran it through the turnstile.  It read swipe again.

         25  He then approached the MTA employee in the token
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          2  booth, who treated him with the same apathy and

          3  disinterest and generally unhelpful attitude with

          4  which he had treated me.  The Sergeant bent the

          5  MetroCard back and forth a couple of times and tried

          6  to smooth out the magnetic strip with his

          7  fingernails, he then swiped the card through the

          8  reader at the token booth, and this time the card

          9  reader displayed the message, see agent.  This was,

         10  apparently the card was now broken.

         11                 When the Sergeant returned to the

         12  bench where I was waiting with the two undercover

         13  police officers, he asked me to go over the details

         14  of the incident.  He agreed that it seemed unfair,

         15  and that in his experience the MetroCards were

         16  causing more trouble and problems than they were

         17  alleviating.  He told me I ought to have bought a

         18  token, and option that the MTA clerk in the booth

         19  had failed to suggest.  This still would have

         20  required me to go back outside and find a cash

         21  machine.  It also defeats the purpose of buying the

         22  unlimited ride card in the first place.  If you have

         23  to supplement the unlimited ride card with tokens

         24  every time a turnstile misbehaves or a computer

         25  malfunctions, you have lost the primary attraction
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          2  of the unlimited card, which is economy.

          3                 The Police Sergeant was torn.  He

          4  looked to the two officers for advice.  He asked

          5  them if they thought I ought to be cited for fare

          6  beating.  The officer who had threatened to throw me

          7  in jail replied that I had indeed bypassed the

          8  turnstile in an attempt to "avoid paying" my fare.

          9  I was issued a ticket, even though I had clearly

         10  demonstrated that I had tried to pay my fare and had

         11  in actuality paid in advance for 30 days of subway

         12  use.  I was only trying to get home safely.

         13                 After the citation was written and my

         14  rights had been explained to me, it was nearly three

         15  o'clock in the morning. I then proceeded down the

         16  stairs to the platform to board the next train home.

         17    The Sergeant and the officers failed to take any

         18  notice of this, even though they had just ticketed

         19  me for not paying my fare and told me I had

         20  illegally entered the subway station.

         21                 I would like to state that this was

         22  the second 30 day unlimited ride MetroCard that I

         23  had purchased that failed to last for 30 days.  The

         24  first card I bought when the program was introduced,

         25  broke after 14 days.  I mailed it into the Transit
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          2  Authority in July, and it was five months and many

          3  phone calls later before I finally received a check

          4  for $8.40 and two 7- day MetroCards as recompense.

          5  The second 30- day unlimited ride card I purchased

          6  lasted for 19 days and also earned me a $60 fine for

          7  fare beating, when it failed to hold up for its

          8  term.  I suggest that if the MTA is going to issue

          9  cards intended to last for 30 days, that they make

         10  them of a material that will last for 30 days, or

         11  that they sell them in a protective carrying case

         12  and instruct subway riders to use these.

         13                 After this incident, I set a court

         14  date and requested printouts of my MetroCard usage

         15  from the Transit Bureau. In my written request I

         16  clearly indicated the serial numbers of my card and

         17  I stressed the importance of receiving the printout

         18  before my hearing date arrived.  I needed to be able

         19  to prove that my card was not expired and that it

         20  had been working fine up until the time of my

         21  arrest.  When the time came for me to go to my

         22  hearing, I had received no reply from the MTA and my

         23  case was adjourned until a later date when I could

         24  furnish the appropriate documentation. This only

         25  made me look bad in front of the hearing officer
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          2  when it was, again, the MTA that was remiss in its

          3  responsibilities.

          4                 I contacted MTA Field Operations

          5  Manager Langhorn in an effort to verify that the

          6  computer system was malfunctioning at booth number

          7  N- 519 on the morning of August 6th.  I also asked

          8  him to provide me with the badge number of the clerk

          9  who had been so unhelpful to me that morning.  The

         10  only information I received from Mr. Langhorn was in

         11  the form of a message on my answering machine

         12  stating that he was unable to verify that the

         13  computer system was down at the time of my arrest,

         14  due to incomplete records.  He would not identify

         15  the clerk in the token booth.

         16                 I wrote to the MTA a second time,

         17  after my first hearing and requested printouts of my

         18  MetroCard usage.  I attempted to follow- up with

         19  phone calls, but was unable to reach anyone in

         20  customer service due to chronic busy signals.

         21  Fortunately, the documents finally arrived.  Alas,

         22  they failed to help me at my subsequent hearing.

         23  Extenuating circumstances proved to be of no

         24  significance to the Transit Adjudication Bureau, and

         25  I was found guilty as charged and fined $60.  In
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          2  essence I paid twice for my subway pass that month.

          3                 Lastly, let me just state that I have

          4  no record of criminal activity, and I work full-

          5  time at a permanent job. I think the idea of an

          6  unlimited monthly transit pass is long overdue for

          7  New York City.  I think it's a good idea in theory,

          8  it offers convenience and economy, but I realize

          9  also that the MTA has to invest a certain amount of

         10  dollars and energy into preventing fraud and theft,

         11  but I continue to be puzzled about the events of the

         12  morning of August 6th.

         13                 Clearly, there are some problems with

         14  the MetroCard program that the MTA simply must

         15  acknowledge and address.  I urge you to consider the

         16  inconvenience, frustration and unfairness that

         17  result from the shortcomings of this imperfect

         18  program.  If I had any other choice, I might have

         19  considered an alternate means of travel after this

         20  whole thing was over.  As it is, I, like many subway

         21  commuters, am a captive rider.  There is no other

         22  reasonable or affordable means by which I can get to

         23  and from work, and travel around the City.

         24                 I know that I am not the only one who

         25  has been unfairly punished for the failures of the
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          2  MTA.  I hope that the number of complaints received

          3  regarding this issue is sufficient to convince the

          4  Transit Authority to take some measures to improve

          5  this program.  Unfortunately, any improvements that

          6  are made will come too late to be of any help to me,

          7  I'm already out my $60.

          8                 I thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Thank you very

         10  much, both of you, for coming forward and taking the

         11  time out to testify here. Obviously, your problem,

         12  is not only yours, but it's a problem throughout the

         13  system and I'm sure other people have been a victim.It

         14  touched me to the effect that I would like to pursue

         15  both your cases.  I know that in your case, you

         16  concluded that you're not appealing it in any way,

         17  but if there is anything that you think we can do on

         18  your appeal, I would add to that information, and

         19  I'm willing to write any type of letter or anything.

         20    I think it is outrageous, and you're welcome to

         21  stay while we question the MTA about this, and one

         22  of the things that I want to deal with is the

         23  recourse, when someone like yourselves goes through

         24  the system and, unfortunately, different

         25  circumstances that you didn't have the opportunity,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  you couldn't pay, or why should you pay when you

          3  have, basically, that card that allows you to go

          4  into your place.  It's like someone has a key today,

          5  they have keyless doors in many places, in the

          6  hotels and offices, and so if someone puts that card

          7  in and doesn't work and they try another way, you

          8  don't get locked up for trespassing.  You have a

          9  right to go into the system.  And here, with the

         10  $63, you have a right to go into the system.

         11                 I'm also going to question and that

         12  is to know from the MTA, the judicial system they

         13  have set up.  Is this a kangaroo court that just

         14  takes your money, and who runs it?  And I would like

         15  to know more about that.  This is totally an

         16  outrage.

         17                 By the way, I'm an attorney, and I

         18  can't see how you both were found guilty on

         19  something that you, obviously, very clearly were not

         20  guilty of.  You were of the section of theft of

         21  services, you didn't steal anything, and you paid

         22  for it.  So I don't understand that, as well.  And

         23  like what is interesting in your testimony is that

         24  you came to the subway station, you were harassed on

         25  the way there, if the cops would have better
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          2  protected you outside, it would have been a much

          3  better, safer City, than you coming inside.

          4                 One thing I want to suggest, I'm a

          5  little concerned about the statements made by some

          6  of the officers, one particular officer.  I had

          7  hoped, if you didn't, I don't know how long, it's

          8  never too late, you should make a complaint against

          9  that officer, and you have that person's name on the

         10  ticket, but I would see to it that you do that.

         11                 MS. MIGNON:  The hearing officer took

         12  both copies of my citations.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  So there is no way

         14  to have the information.

         15                 I mean, there is probably a way to

         16  figure out who that officer is, but I must tell you

         17  that even if it is not a written complaint, you have

         18  a right, if you can describe it, there all in detail

         19  and particular areas, if you call that commander,

         20  and if you have any problems, I will try my office

         21  to be helpful to you.

         22                 I'm not looking for the officer to

         23  get into trouble, but to me there is something

         24  called about, you know, they have this thing about

         25  courtesy and respect.  You're not a criminal and
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          2  they know it.  And what is interesting is that the

          3  Sergeant came, and usually they listen to the

          4  Sergeant.  I guess, at this time they just deferred

          5  to the officer.  So I think that is something that

          6  should be addressed.

          7                 Thank you very much, both of you,

          8  thank you.  Oh, on them?  Okay, just very quick,

          9  because we have to get to the MTA, go ahead.

         10  Council Member Stabile.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  My

         12  suggestion to you, young lady, is to ask for a

         13  transcript of that preceding.  They have to record

         14  the transcript or they do it with a recording

         15  secretary. I'm sure there was one present at the

         16  time, ask for a transcript of that, you will get the

         17  officer's name.  I also believe that you should

         18  pursue it on the legal factor if the officer made

         19  the remarks he did to you about what a cute young

         20  lady or something like that in prison, I think you

         21  should follow- up on that also.

         22                 The part about the token clerk, I

         23  think that should be followed up.  I mean, we have

         24  great sympathy for the token clerks, God forbid,

         25  when they're injured or else in the token booths or
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          2  whatever, but we want our token clerks to be

          3  courteous to all the public at all times.  So I

          4  think you should pursue that factor.  You may not

          5  get your $60 back in fares, but I think maybe it

          6  would teach the employees of the City to have a

          7  little more respect for the citizens of the City.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Thank you very

         10  much, thank you. MTA.  Go ahead, identify yourself

         11  for the record?

         12                 MR. CAPLAN:  I'm Gary Caplan, Budget

         13  Director of the Metropolitan Transportation

         14  Authority.

         15                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  My name is David

         16  Goldenberg.  I'm with Customer Services for New York

         17  City Transit.

         18                 MR. CAPLAN:  We, at the MTA and the

         19  Operating Agencies, welcome this opportunity to

         20  discuss with you our experience with MetroCard.  We

         21  do so because MetroCard, and its electronic cousin,

         22  E- Z Pass, with a few problems, are yet still among

         23  the greatest public successes, I believe that the

         24  New York Metropolitan region has seen in recent

         25  years.
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          2                 Thanks to MetroCard itself, as well

          3  as to the subway and bus fare policies that

          4  MetroCard has made possible, and the Five- Year MTA

          5  Capital and Operating Plan of which MetroCard was a

          6  major element, we have seen record- breaking

          7  increases in ridership on the MTA New York City

          8  Transit System.

          9                 Over the five- year span of our

         10  Operating and Capital Plan, that is, 1999 compared

         11  with 1994, we expect ridership to increase 20.3

         12  percent, some 17.2 percent on subways and an almost

         13  unbelievable 26.6 percent on buses.  In fact, based

         14  upon our year to- date results, we're going to do

         15  even better than that.

         16                 And, perhaps, best of all, the people

         17  using our buses and subways this year, will, on

         18  average, pay no more than they did in 1990, because

         19  they will take advantage of our various fare

         20  discounts, including the abolition of two- fare

         21  zones.

         22                 As we now turn to some of the

         23  problems and issues you have raised, I should place

         24  their frequency in context.  In 1999, some one

         25  billion, nine hundred thirty million rides will be
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          2  taken on our City buses and subways.  Of these, 80.2

          3  percent, or some one billion five hundred and fifty

          4  million rides will be taken with MetroCard.  One

          5  billion five hundred fifty million rides is as if

          6  every non- New- Yorker in the United States and

          7  every single person in the next ten largest

          8  countries in the world, came to our town and rode

          9  our subways using MetroCard.

         10                 With this in mind, let's address the

         11  specific issues about which you have expressed

         12  interest.

         13                 First, MetroCard usage.  We have

         14  complete actuals for December '97 and December '98,

         15  and I will summarize them, and can promise more

         16  complete data later if you wish.

         17                 In December 1997, which was the first

         18  year MetroCard was available in all subway stations

         19  and buses, only about half the rides taken were

         20  taken with MetroCards.  More precisely, 54.0 percent

         21  of rides were taken with MetroCard and the remainder

         22  with cash or tokens.  All these were non- discounted

         23  MetroCards, but, of course, they gave free

         24  intermodal transfers.

         25                 One year later, by December 1998,
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          2  almost three quarters of rides were MetroCard rides.

          3    Some 20.2 percent were 7 day passes, 8.3 percent

          4  were 30- day passes, 32 percent were bonus cards,

          5  and 14.8 percent were non- bonus MetroCards, leaving

          6  26.7 percent as cash or tokens.

          7                 By February of this year, MetroCard

          8  share had exceeded three- quarters, 75.1 percent to

          9  be exact, and by December '99, our budget expects

         10  that almost 85 percent of the rides will be

         11  MetroCard rides.

         12                 Next let me turn to the issue of

         13  MetroCard's swiping errors.  Our latest information

         14  indicates this to be an extremely small problem,

         15  fully 97.8 percent of customers with valid

         16  MetroCards are able to enter the system by the

         17  second swipe, 87 percent make it on the first try,

         18  and let me explain how that number was derived.

         19                 While in the past we used some

         20  turnstile audit register data to assess contractual

         21  compliance during the warranty period, we now rely

         22  on a series of operational observations to provide a

         23  more complete understanding of what is happening,

         24  and now I will summarize what the most recent nine-

         25  day observation showed. I note that there was no
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          2  cleaning of the readers or special steps like that,

          3  and that these results were not inconsistent with

          4  previous observations.

          5                 Ultimately, 99.8 percent of the

          6  MetroCard users entered the system, and 95 percent

          7  did so by the second try.  The difference between

          8  that 95 percent and the 98 percent that I was just

          9  talking about, is that some MetroCards were invalid,

         10  primarily because there was not enough money left on

         11  the card.

         12                 Of the so- called errors experienced,

         13  18.3 percent reflect the AFC's system doing what it

         14  is supposed to do, that is lock out those with

         15  invalid cards.  The primary causes of invalidity are

         16  insufficient funds and expiration dates passed.

         17  Another 3.9 percent of the errors came from cards

         18  being swiped either too fast or too slow.  The

         19  remainder of the errors come from one of a

         20  combination, a) swipe technique, b) card condition,

         21  and c) equipment condition.  While the electronics

         22  of the equipment don't let us know exactly which of

         23  these will be the cause, we believe based upon the

         24  observation and anecdote that about 90 percent of

         25  these errors result from improper technique, and
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          2  about 10 percent from card and equipment failure.

          3                 While there are no industry standards

          4  for constitutes acceptable numbers in these

          5  categories, our policy is to try to do better, and

          6  to that end, two areas of future activity seem

          7  fruitful and we will pursue them.

          8                 First is customer education.  We will

          9  continue and improve campaigns to teach customers

         10  how to, a) improve their swiping technique;  b) keep

         11  their cards in better condition, perhaps by using

         12  the cardholders that we distribute; c) understand

         13  and respond to the turnstile error messages, and d)

         14  recognize that no matter how many swipes you take,

         15  you can't get in if you have an invalid card.

         16                 Second step we will take is

         17  maintenance.  We believe our schedule, which I will

         18  discuss later, is adequate.  We would, however, like

         19  to see if we could incorporate a mag- stripe-

         20  cleaning pad in the reading mechanism, which would

         21  cut down on card- caused errors.

         22                 I believe this answers the questions

         23  you have asked in this area, except that the audit-

         24  register- related questions involve confidential

         25  customer- related data that we would not prefer to
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          2  discuss in public.

          3                 Now let us turn to the issue of

          4  double deductions and lockouts.  Essentially, given

          5  the infrequent nature of this problem, we believe

          6  the way to handle this is not through excessively

          7  costly studies and data collection, but through

          8  prompt response to customer complaints.  Therefore,

          9  our station agents are instructed to admit to the

         10  system any locked- out Unlimited- Ride MetroCard

         11  customer where the electronic record shows that the

         12  card was just used.  Our Customer Service personnel

         13  will fully reimburse any customer found to have a

         14  verified multiple deduction.

         15                 This, I submit, is an adequate

         16  response given the dimensions of the problem.  From

         17  July '97 to February '99, New York City Transit

         18  received 10,798 requests for double- debit refunds.

         19  These refunds have generally been paid within a week

         20  of receipt, and I would note that 10,798 is roughly

         21  one- thousandth of one percent of the total

         22  transactions in that period of time.

         23                 I believe that this explanation,

         24  combined with the data previously sent to you on

         25  tab, comprises all the regularly tracked data that
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          2  is covered by the questions in your area.

          3                 And finally, let us deal with

          4  MetroCard Properties and Turnstile Cleaning.  We now

          5  clean all AFC equipment at least three times a day.

          6  This is adjusted upward at high volume stations and

          7  will be modified if problems persist and to the

          8  station agents report them.  With respect to the

          9  varnish and Triplex studies that you asked about, I

         10  can report that in the first instance we didn't find

         11  any impact due to varnish, and theater in the second

         12  case we are now using Triplex both in the vending

         13  machines and in the Commuter Railroads' Mail and

         14  Ride programs.

         15                 This concludes our prepared

         16  testimony, and now I welcome your questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  First of all, Mr.

         18  Caplan, with regard to the information as we

         19  requested, and you keep on saying that you don't

         20  have.  I understand from Atefeh Riazzi, that she

         21  told our Council staff person that her division

         22  monitors first- time card acceptance rates for every

         23  station, that she also explained that reports were

         24  produced weekly so that the stations with large

         25  numbers of swiping problems could be monitored, and
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          2  the data used to generate the first- time card

          3  acceptance rate is taken from the audit registered

          4  data from the stations' turnstiles.  Where is that

          5  information?

          6                 MR. CAPLAN:  Okay.  Some of that,

          7  most of that was discontinued on a regular basis

          8  after the warranty program for the equipment,

          9  because it was in terms of resources that fairly

         10  extensive use of them, and we needed it to file

         11  claims against the contractor, and that was just

         12  that, basically, we don't do that regularly.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  And what is that

         14  date?

         15                 MR. CAPLAN:  Oh, I would have to get

         16  back to you, I forget what the date was.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  And the data up

         18  until then?

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  And also I would like to

         20  make a second point, which is, one of the reasons we

         21  rely on the observations as opposed to that, is that

         22  you can basically see what is happening. The data is

         23  not going to tell you that a customer couldn't get

         24  in, and therefore, dropped a token or went back to

         25  the booth to get recompense.  That we can see by
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          2  observation, so we would prefer to rely on the

          3  observation so that we can see exactly what is

          4  happening and follow each transaction all the way

          5  through.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Mr. Goldenberg,

          7  did you, obviously, you had that information, that

          8  data from one of you're technical people, did you

          9  see any information up until that point of the

         10  warranty that you would monitoring any problems?

         11                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  To respond, we did,

         12  in Customer Services don't see that kind of

         13  information.  What we focus on are the customer

         14  complaints that come in, and we address our

         15  resources to investigate those complaints as quickly

         16  as we can, turn the response around, and where the

         17  customer is entitled to a reimbursement or

         18  adjustment, get it out to the customer as quickly as

         19  we can, and right now we're averaging five days,

         20  worst case scenario, in most instances we're turning

         21  customers complaints in around three days.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Let me ask you

         23  something, how many people have complained, let's

         24  say in the last, I don't know, day of period 30

         25  days, 60 days, whatever time period, the last year?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  It might be best to

          3  respond on a monthly average.  We get about 2,000

          4  plus MetroCard related complaints a month, and that

          5  would be the entire universe.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Since the system

          7  has been installed?

          8                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Well, currently, as

          9  you go back in time, - -

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Right.

         11                 MR. GOLDENBERG: - -  when far fewer

         12  people were using MetroCard, and also ridership was

         13  lower as you move back in time, those numbers would

         14  be lower as well.  So the 2,000 a month is a current

         15  number.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Now on the 2,000,

         17  isn't that an alarming number for you?  I mean,

         18  doesn't that tell you there is a problem out there?

         19                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Well, I think, if

         20  referring to Mr. Caplan's comments, if you look at

         21  the total universe of MetroCard transactions

         22  completed daily, weekly, monthly, and they rise into

         23  the many millions, probably 35 million transactions

         24  a week.  My response would be the 2,000 issues as a

         25  numerator with a denominator of say 35 million, is
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          2  within an acceptable range, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Now, my question

          4  is, how you could you turn a blind eye, to me, to

          5  say, there is no problem, you close your eyes, there

          6  is no problem, when you have this data available to

          7  you, right at your fingertips, and you keep on

          8  denying that there is this problem of, or there is

          9  no data or you don't have it.  When we have a memo

         10  here, and I would like the staff if they could turn

         11  around the memo, dated 4/1/98, which from your

         12  Atefeh Riazzi, requesting that information, and the,

         13  if you could read it out there, please?  In fact,

         14  staff, could you do me a favor, read it out loud?

         15  Okay, read it from that version, just speak it into

         16  a microphone.

         17                 STAFF PERSON:  Dated March 16th,

         18  1998, subject is First Time Card Acceptance, and it

         19  says, "As of 4/1/98 a first report should be

         20  produced and then weekly.  Please do a report on the

         21  weekly basis to show the First Time Card Acceptance

         22  with each station.  It should be sent to Revenue to

         23  get the turnstiles and fix them.  Do an exception

         24  report for stations or turnstiles with less 70

         25  percent first time card acceptance.  Send a copy to
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          2  Ed Spellmer and a copy to me."  And me refers to

          3  Atefeh Riazzi, the Vice- President and CIO of the

          4  Technology Division of the Transit Authority.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  What is that all

          6  about and why we can't get that information, if it

          7  is available?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  Because I think that, I

          9  mean, I think that is a specially prepared run in

         10  the time when we were getting ready for the

         11  introduction of the passes, and the idea was to make

         12  sure that nobody was going to have a problem when

         13  the passes went in, and, obviously, all sorts of

         14  special efforts.

         15                 What we're saying basically is that

         16  on a regular basis and for the purpose of really

         17  making sure that as far as is humanly possible there

         18  are no errors, what you should do is go to the

         19  stations and very carefully look at what is going

         20  on.  There are several things that you can't, by the

         21  data, tell what is happening to the customers, you

         22  can't tell if they're swiping a lot of times, if

         23  they're dropping in money, that you want to see by

         24  looking at it and that is what we do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  You know what is
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          2  troubling to us, is here you are, keep on denying

          3  that there is this information, we asked for this

          4  data, and they say, they deny that it exists, now

          5  you're saying yes, it does exist.  If it does exist,

          6  why can't we have it?  Why can't the truth be told

          7  to us?  You know what my problem is, you tell me

          8  something is not available, I have to accept it on

          9  face value, but when we find out it's not true, how

         10  can we believe you on anything else that you

         11  testify?

         12                 MR. CAPLAN:  I did not say that.  I

         13  said, we do not regularly run these reports.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  No, no, no, when

         15  we requested this information and then I spoke

         16  yesterday to Mark Shore, and I know I tried reaching

         17  out to the President, I know he is not feeling well

         18  and I wish him well, because I think he is a

         19  wonderful human being and a very, if this was

         20  brought to his attention, I'm sure he is not going

         21  to be happy about this.

         22                 But I know one thing, even he was

         23  told yesterday, Mark Shore was told, obviously, by

         24  staff, because, you know, he had big agency, that

         25  there is no data available, and I told him that is
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          2  not true.  He said, he would like to find out why,

          3  why people are lying to us.  You lie us you lie to

          4  the people, people don't like to be fooled, we don't

          5  like to be lied to.

          6                 MR. CAPLAN:  You know, as much as I

          7  hate to disagree with this distinguished panel, I

          8  don't think this can be characterized as a lie.

          9  What we have said, - -

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Then what do you

         11  call it?

         12                 MR. CAPLAN:  What we have said, is

         13  that the reports containing the data are not

         14  regularly run, not that, use specially programs - -

         15                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Mr. Chairman, Mr.

         16  Chairman, that is the word, regular or irregular.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  But I know about

         18  regular.

         19                 MR. CAPLAN: - -  and that if you want

         20  to get a picture of what is happening, the way you

         21  get a picture, and we're happy to provide the data,

         22  is to look at what is happening.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Agree, we were

         24  told that there is no data available at all and that

         25  is one issue.  Number two, and we requested that
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          2  data in letters to you, to the MTA, to the TA, to

          3  everybody else, they say it doesn't exist.  Next, if

          4  you only do it on a sporadic basis, why isn't it

          5  done on a regular basis, and why do you keep on

          6  denying that you have to look at this information,

          7  it's not accurate enough to look at the data, but

          8  you have to be out there and verify maybe their not

          9  swiping it right?

         10                 Obviously, there is a problem.  If

         11  you see a new system is put in, it's not working

         12  right, so even if the customer is not doing the

         13  right thing, so what?  So help the customer to do

         14  the right thing, so what is the problem, why can't

         15  we look to rectify the problem instead of closing

         16  our eyes and saying no it's going to work, it's

         17  going to work?

         18                 MR. CAPLAN:  Okay, because if 98

         19  percent of the people are getting in on the second

         20  try, if all but two- tenths of a percent are getting

         21  in, sure it's a problem, and we would rather have

         22  100 percent get in.  But there are - -

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  But where are you

         24  getting that information if you're not monitoring

         25  that information?
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  I explained how we got

          3  this information, and we are monitoring it.  What I

          4  did say is that it is not coming off of the

          5  turnstile, and because we believe that the best way

          6  to run the system is to do it the way, get the

          7  information the way we are getting the information.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  By what, by people

          9  just complaining?

         10                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, no, by going to the

         11  stations, by taking a methodologically sound survey,

         12  by repeating it, by comparing them, by devising

         13  programs that reflect what we have learned, that is

         14  what we think is the best way to do this, that is

         15  how you run your business.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  What is the 70

         17  percent threshold that you use?

         18                 MR. CAPLAN:  What?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  You use a 70

         20  percent threshold, that is the number that you use.

         21  Why 70 percent, what is that?  On the bottom it

         22  says, 70 percent the first time.

         23                 MR. CAPLAN:  This is a bit of a

         24  speculation, but I think given the data this was

         25  getting the turnstiles ready to accept what we
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          2  thought would be a huge increase in ridership as a

          3  result of the monthly passes and the other break-

          4  ins, and we wanted to make sure that all the

          5  turnstiles were ready, and I think this was a

          6  special part of.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  So a lot of these

          8  questions could have been answered if we had Atefeh

          9  here.  And that is another reason why, is there

         10  anything to hide, not to bring Atefeh, who knows all

         11  the issues about this issue to be here to testify?

         12  Someone says that maybe she doesn't work here

         13  anymore, after this memo.

         14                 I mean, it's nice to have you, I

         15  don't mind having you, Mr. Caplan, you're here, I

         16  know you are a budget person.

         17                 MR. CAPLAN:  Yes, but this is a

         18  budget issue.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  It's not a budget

         20  issue, yes, you're right, how much money more can we

         21  get, steal from the customers.

         22                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, no, no, it becomes a

         23  budget issue because - -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Yes, how to rip-

         25  off the customers.
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN: - -  what you're doing is

          3  trying to get the best possible information at what

          4  is a cost that is reasonable.  You always have to

          5  pay money for information, and so it becomes an

          6  issue.  How much information do you need at what

          7  cost, and when you have a problem that from all our

          8  studies is minuscule.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  How could you, you

         10  know, how could it be minuscule when you have two

         11  people here, and I know it's more, I know in our

         12  survey, and we did a methodological study also, we

         13  did it scientifically, we did it the right, and out

         14  of our 1,000 people, we didn't do it at one station,

         15  and out of our 1,000 people we surveyed, 30 percent

         16  of them were either locked out or there was double

         17  dipping.  So you tell me that there is no problem

         18  there?

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  Well, I hate to be a

         20  little contradictory, but if you will look at the

         21  studies and you look at both this study and the

         22  study before that last year, while there may be

         23  useful information, they're not scientifically

         24  conducted studies.  The footnotes 5 and 13 both

         25  admit that and say that it is not a scientifically
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          2  conducted study and that you can't generalize.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  It's almost like

          4  you have, you have a problem because you say 70

          5  percent there, so obviously the 30 percent - -

          6                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, I mean, there are

          7  people who are getting locked out, but as far as

          8  anybody can tell looking at the best information,

          9  this is a small problem.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  So why if you

         11  don't want to use it, obviously, if you claim it's

         12  not scientific, and we will claim it is, I'm not

         13  going to get into this argument.

         14                 MR. CAPLAN:  Yes, I know.  No, we

         15  don't want to get into that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  To use, you have

         17  usage data, you know, today with the technology and

         18  today with the modern day of everything we have in

         19  our fingertips, I can't believe that we can't have

         20  the data from a usage issue.

         21                 MR. CAPLAN:  But the usage doesn't

         22  tell us if a person dropped in money, took a

         23  different card, gave up, that is why we want to see

         24  what they did.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  That tells you, if
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          2  I was to have a swiping problem, it puts through the

          3  system, I mean, obviously, it's being monitoring

          4  something.

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  You have to then run the

          6  system, I mean, even that is different from doing

          7  that.  That one says how many times did you accept

          8  card.  What you want to do if you want to see how

          9  many times a person is swiping, is you have to

         10  connect each swipe with a card number, which is

         11  another massive use of resource, it is a very

         12  different kind of data problem.  And that is why,

         13  and for what we believe is not all that useful and

         14  there are better ways to do it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  So if you have a

         16  better way to do it, that is more efficient and more

         17  scientific to correct the problem, so be it, I don't

         18  care.  Why don't you fess up and admit that you have

         19  a problem, that is all I want to know?  Just say,

         20  yes, I have a problem.

         21                 MR. CAPLAN:  I think we're admitting

         22  that we have a problem, what we're disagreeing about

         23  is the extent of the problem.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Okay, so you're

         25  admitting to the problem, now we're going to figure
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          2  out if it is 30 percent, if it is 20 percent, or

          3  whatever percentage you want.

          4                 MR. CAPLAN:  Or two- tenths of a

          5  percent.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  That far I would

          7  have to disagree with you, but let it be that way.

          8  What are you doing to rectify it?

          9                 MR. CAPLAN:  What we have to do and

         10  what we have continually done is a) try to educate

         11  the people.  Let me talk about some of the problems

         12  that have come up and some of the proposals.  First,

         13  what I want to do, is to those two people who went

         14  through those kinds of experience, is to apologize,

         15  simply.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Apologize, could

         17  that help them in their appeal or something?

         18                 MR. CAPLAN:  Second part, - -  no, it

         19  does not help them, but the following - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:   And, by the way,

         21  and we will talk about that, the Adjudication

         22  Bureau, is that part of the Transit Authority or

         23  that is a part of, tell me?

         24                 MR. CAPLAN:  That is quasi-

         25  independent.  Let me do the steps, - -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  What quasi-

          3  independent --

          4                 MR. CAPLAN: - -  and then, first,

          5  there seems to be a problem with the police, most of

          6  this occurred early on.  What we would like to do

          7  and what we will do is talk to the police, tell them

          8  the problem.  I don't, you know, a lot of them may

          9  not realize that the unlimited ride instrument is a

         10  different kind of instrument.  Yes, you have paid in

         11  advance, it's not really theft of services, and we

         12  will do this, talk to the police so that they get -

         13   -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Could you put, can

         15  I ask you this, I would like to see that in a memo

         16  form?  Because what happens is - -

         17                 MR. CAPLAN:  Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: - -  if you put it

         19  in a memo form, and public record, I mean I would

         20  like to get a copy of that.

         21                 MR. CAPLAN:  Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  And then someone

         23  gets caught up in it, and they go before the judge,

         24  so then there is no one pressing charges, because

         25  the Police Department is executing a warrant or
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          2  something for somebody.  So if you're saying you

          3  didn't steal from me, so that is important.  So we

          4  have a memo, and I hope that we could get that memo

          5  even out now to help the persons appealing it, to

          6  help this particular person.

          7                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean, let's talk to

          8  the police, this is obviously, largely a police

          9  matter.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  No, no, no, I

         11  don't buy that, you see, it's not a police matter,

         12  it's your matter, if you tell the Police Department

         13  I don't want you in my system now, you're the boss,

         14  you know, you are the ones, you're the person that

         15  determines what went, and now don't tell me this,

         16  because now you don't have a Transit Police.

         17                 MR. CAPLAN: No, I'm saying the way

         18  you get, no, I'm not saying that, I'm saying we will

         19  talk to the police, and that is how you - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  But also a memo

         21  formed, but you're, don't forget, you are the one

         22  dictating what the police --

         23                 MR. CAPLAN:  I want to hear what the

         24  police have to say, we are going to talk to the

         25  police.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:   I will tell you

          3  what, -        MR. CAPLAN:  And we're going to try

          4  to see that --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: - -  they have a

          6  numbers game, they have to make sure - -

          7                 MR. CAPLAN: - -  people, you know, -

          8   -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Yes.

         10                 MR. CAPLAN: - -  that shouldn't

         11  happen to people. Second thing is the cards or even

         12  the - -

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  So that is

         14  remedies, so you're saying you are going to talk to

         15  the police, how long will that take?

         16                 MR. CAPLAN:  We're going to talk to

         17  them as promptly as we can get to them, I mean, we

         18  will talk to them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Okay, so when

         20  could we, I want to hear a resolution on this part

         21  where we can see a memo going out from you to the

         22  Police Department exactly detailing when - -

         23                 MR. CAPLAN:  We will probably report

         24  back on what happened with our police and what the

         25  outcome of this is.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Within how much

          3  period of, you know?

          4                 MR. CAPLAN:  There are two parties to

          5  this, I can't tell you, I can't promise for the

          6  police.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Is it six days,

          8  ten days?

          9                 MR. CAPLAN:  It depends on - -

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  But again, why are

         11  the police the factor here, you are the owners of

         12  that entity?

         13                 MR. CAPLAN:  Because they enforce the

         14  law.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  No, no, no, they

         16  enforce what you want them to enforce.

         17                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, they enforce the

         18  law.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  If you allowed

         20  tomorrow, if the Transit Authority, MTA, decides

         21  tomorrow everybody is going free, it's your

         22  determination.  They have to enforce the laws you

         23  want the to enforce.

         24                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, they enforce the

         25  penal law, and there is a theft of services paid for
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          2  that, and that is the way they're interpreting it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  No, no, no, they

          4  enforce, it's through your law.  If theft of

          5  services, if you say it is theft of services, but if

          6  you tell them, someone has a card, paid us $63 for

          7  the month, and it's verified it's their card, you

          8  don't even have to go through the machine, it says

          9  in the back that you can, it doesn't expire and you

         10  know it's an unlimited card, that guy has a right,

         11  or that person has a right to go anytime they want

         12  our system, and if the machines don't work then - -

         13                 MR. CAPLAN:  Wait a minute, we're

         14  going to explain to the police how the card works,

         15  what it does, why that is accurate, and then - -

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Can I ask you a

         17  question, why wasn't this done until now?

         18                 MR. CAPLAN:  I don't know if it was

         19  or wasn't done, I don't know what happened.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  So who would know,

         21  Customer Service Goldenberg, do you know if this?

         22                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  I don't know, I'm

         23  giving you the honest answer, I don't know to what

         24  extent there have been discussions with the police,

         25  and my guess is that there have been discussions,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  but I think, as Mr. Caplan mentioned, - -

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Put on the

          4  microphone, please?

          5                 MR. GOLDENBERG: - -  as Mr. Caplan

          6  mentioned a few months ago, the dates in question

          7  were very early on, in the roll out of the unlimited

          8  ride pass in July and August of '98, if I recall the

          9  witnesses testimony correctly, which was at the very

         10  inception.  So I think one of the issues really is,

         11  without in any way minimizing the testimony of the

         12  witnesses that we heard a little while ago, to check

         13  to see what kind of progress may have been made in

         14  coordination with the police on these kinds of

         15  issues.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Isn't this

         17  something that you should, as a customer service

         18  person, you don't have to be, you know, the trouble

         19  with the Transit Authority and the MTA, and I must

         20  tell you, I mean, under the leadership I happen to

         21  have tremendous respect for Larry Royer, and I bring

         22  this to his attention, I'm telling he probably, just

         23  if he hears this testimony, I'm sure he is going to

         24  watch this, he will be just as angry at why I'm

         25  uncovering things that a simple should have been
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          2  resolved and should have been dealt with, and why

          3  people have such totally disrespect and really

          4  towards, have bad feelings towards the Transit

          5  Authority because they just don't give a damn, that

          6  is what it's all about.  Here it is the fundamental

          7  issue, customer service, treating people with

          8  respect.  You ask the Police Department people to

          9  treat people with respect, the Transit Authority

         10  treats the people like cattle, give me your money

         11  and I don't care what happens to you.

         12                 You should, not just apologize, today

         13  these two people, and these people just didn't come

         14  forward now, how did we find out about them, because

         15  they were in the newspaper, you read the newspapers,

         16  you were responding and the whole public relations

         17  machine, you should have reached out to them and

         18  said, you know what, we are going to write a letter

         19  on your behalf, because this doesn't make sense that

         20  you both have an unlimited card, you paid for it,

         21  you deserve to get in and you shouldn't be penalized

         22  like this.  It is so unfair, it just hurts me with

         23  something I must see a change in, that is what is

         24  bothering me here, the entire thing. You have to

         25  have a different attitude, you head customer
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          2  service, do something to make it more user-

          3  friendly, this place.  At least when they call and

          4  complain that there is something about, that

          5  something is being done.

          6                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  If I can respond,

          7  Mr. Chairman?  I was not aware of the two items or

          8  incidents that were discussed in the testimony, had

          9  I known about it in July of 1998 and August '98,

         10  respectively, certainly we would have taken a look

         11  to see whether this was being handled appropriately

         12  or not.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  If you would have

         14  read the same newspaper that we did, you would have

         15  seen it.  Again, you have this big press machine,

         16  public relations place, in fact, the MTA guy isn't

         17  even here, you got good training under an old Mayor

         18  here, he knows how to respond to the press, he knows

         19  how to spin things to turn things around, and I know

         20  you were trying to spin this today.  So where, and

         21  all the reporters are laughing because they probably

         22  have gotten calls already.  Where is that machine

         23  sending you a memo, customer service do something

         24  about it, it's embarrassing to us?  What do I need

         25  customer service for?  Let's cut out your department
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          2  and just know - -

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  We should have

          4  apologized to these, I mean, there is no excuse - -

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  But more than

          6  apologize, do something, you did something terrible,

          7  do something to rectify it, set an example, you know

          8  what the nicest thing would be?  Today, you take it

          9  on, upon yourself, to do everything you can to

         10  vindicate these people, with ever you can and

         11  legally by law, sending a letter to the judge on the

         12  appeal, open up the old case, and make these people

         13  clear and free.  I think that is the right thing to

         14  do, on your part.  If you do that, that gives, build

         15  some trust back with people, show people that you

         16  really care and you're not heartless.

         17                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Well, I think we

         18  certainly can in addition to our earlier comment - -

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  No, answer me, are

         20  you prepared to do that?

         21                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  What we can do is

         22  reach out to the Adjudication Bureau and talk with

         23  them and get some feedback from them on this issue

         24  and take a closer look.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  You told me your
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          2  cross agencies, I don't know what, cross agencies

          3  are not supposed to get the feedback.  Could you

          4  explain, talking about that, could you explain what

          5  that judicial arm, what that is all about, that what

          6  I call a kangaroo court?

          7                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  I'm not totally

          8  immersed in all the details of the Adjudication

          9  Bureau, but just in general it is a arm of New York

         10  City Transit which has as one of its functions the

         11  adjudication of violations issued against

         12  individuals for violations of various rules and

         13  regulations of the New York City Transit.  The folks

         14  who, in the first instance, hear the case, our

         15  Administrative Law judges, who are independent

         16  contractors, and I think that might have been what

         17  Mr. Caplan was referencing when he said quasi, but

         18  certainly they are supervised by managers and

         19  supervisory personnel in the New York City Transit,

         20  and my commitment will be to touch base with those

         21  people, reach out and take a look, to make sure that

         22  what happened was appropriate.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  And they do follow

         24  Transit Authority Policy; am I right?

         25                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  They would follow
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          2  the appropriate guidelines for - -

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  So where are those

          4  guidelines that you have spoken to the Police

          5  Department that you don't even speak to someone who

          6  is an arm of your own agency?

          7                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Well, we have heard

          8  about two specific cases, and what I'm committing to

          9  do today is to reach out to the supervisory

         10  personnel in the Adjudication Bureau and follow up

         11  with them.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Let me, you talk

         13  about the decision, thank you, Council member, in

         14  this mess of resident Mr. Young.  Mr. Young, in his

         15  disposition, at the bottom it says, as followed by

         16  TA Policy having an unlimited pass, even if it does

         17  not function properly, is not a defense to enter

         18  without payment authorization from the clerk.  Where

         19  is your discussions with the Police Department, what

         20  do you need that, just have discussions with your

         21  own Bureau?

         22                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  I'm not familiar

         23  with that particular - -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  So what are you

         25  familiar with customer service again, what are you
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          2  familiar with?

          3                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  I'm not familiar

          4  with that particular decision.  As I said, I will

          5  reach out and have contacts- -

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  You know what I

          7  want, I want a commitment today, that you don't have

          8  to have discussion, that you can write a memo,

          9  because it's your, they're not looking for you to

         10  have a discussion with you, they're looking for

         11  guidelines.  I want a memo from you or from the

         12  appropriate people to the Transit Bureau,

         13  Adjudication Division, outlining what it means when

         14  you have the following cards and if it doesn't work

         15  properly and all of that.  That is simple.

         16                 MR. CAPLAN:  One note here, because I

         17  think it was true in the first case.  There was a

         18  remedy.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  What was the

         20  remedy?

         21                 MR. CAPLAN:  The remedy is to go to

         22  the clerk and be let in.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Right, and the

         24  clerk said no.

         25                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, the first person did
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          2  not go - -

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Okay, so one did,

          4  one didn't.

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  You can't just say that

          6  all in prevent plan, you just can't say that

          7  automatically the non- use of a card justifies

          8  jumping turnstiles, you just can't say that.  People

          9  do have to pay, they have to have some

         10  responsibility and they do have to avail themselves

         11  of the remedies before you can go that far. There

         12  may be also other - -  what?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  You're on a roll,

         14  you guys.  Is this your booklet?

         15                 MR. CAPLAN:  It certainly looks like,

         16  yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  I know, don't

         18  worry, I didn't check it.  Trouble using MetroCard,

         19  the station agent or bus operator cannot address any

         20  problems with your unlimited ride MetroCard.

         21                 You know what, I think I should end

         22  the hearing now before you put your foot even deeper

         23  in your mouth, and - -

         24                 MR. CAPLAN:  Sir, station clerks are

         25  instructed to let you in under the circumstances - -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Where, it says

          3  they can't, it says they can't.  It says here,

          4  Trouble using MetroCard, station agent or bus

          5  operator cannot address any problems with your

          6  unlimited ride MetroCard.  Now, you're telling me

          7  that they have a right to let somebody in?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  They did it with tokens,

          9  this is nothing new.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  That was my

         11  remedy, so is there a memo that says you're allowed

         12  to do that, could I see a copy of that?

         13                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  There are numerous

         14  bulletins which have been issued to station agents

         15  instructing them to exercise sound discretion and

         16  use good judgement when these types of situations

         17  arise.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Even pay- per-

         19  ride and even with an unlimited ride, as well?

         20                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Correct, correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Okay, can I have

         22  copies of those memos?

         23                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  We will get you

         24  copies.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  And is it posted,
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          2  do all the token booth clerks have that?

          3                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  They all have been

          4  furnished with copies of those bulletins on more

          5  than one occasion.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  And then why was

          7  the second person, when they asked who the token

          8  booth clerk was, it is very easy to find out, it

          9  probably is no big thing to find out, someone worked

         10  so and so date, and who is that person, and why she

         11  couldn't get information right of away, she had to

         12  come back?  These, again, are customer service, not

         13  getting the service.  Why do I need customer service

         14  if they're not being treated properly.

         15                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Well, clearly, the

         16  station agent on duty that day should have been more

         17  helpful based on the information of her testimony.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  And knowing, I

         19  have a funny feeling that they knew that the cops

         20  were there, they probably knew that the cops were

         21  there, because they saw someone before that got

         22  busted or they know what is going on, and if I was

         23  just afraid to do something about it.  You know,

         24  this goes back to the root of the problem is that

         25  the TA gives us, leaves us this feeling that you
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          2  don't care, and that is what I want to try to

          3  change.

          4                 You don't, you know, I'm sure that

          5  you are not a heartless person, I'm sure that you

          6  have to have some sympathy, I'm sure that you care

          7  about people like that, and I'm sure it's multiplied

          8  by hundreds of times of people get caught and they

          9  had their MetroCard, it wasn't working properly.

         10  And there should be signs, shouldn't there be

         11  information signs telling clerks what this is all

         12  about?  And I will tell you something else, maybe we

         13  should have a little thing written on the cards,

         14  rights of passengers, if it doesn't work go to the

         15  clerk, they have a right to let you in, put that on,

         16  add those lines, add one line on the MetroCard.

         17                 MR. CAPLAN:  Well, you can't actually

         18  put it on the card, because the cards are both

         19  unlimited ride passes and pay- per ride passes are

         20  not the same.  So it wouldn't necessarily apply in

         21  the case of a pay- per- ride, but you can do other

         22  things, and that is what we should do.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  The problem is you

         24  can, if you put it through the thing and you see

         25  that there is money, if for some reason the card is
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          2  not working, is you can do that.

          3                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Mr. Chairman, if I

          4  may, let me suggest this.  It was noted earlier on

          5  that we do have signs posted at all of the station

          6  booths that if you move from one turnstile to the

          7  next using an unlimited ride card, the problem of a

          8  just used might arise.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  I want to thank

         10  the Council for that, because I remember that was a

         11  suggestion of ours, and you first, you know, you

         12  poo-pooed it and then afterwards you said okay, a

         13  good idea.  It's okay, thank you, Council members of

         14  the City Council.

         15                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  But let me take back

         16  the observation that maybe that sign should have a

         17  little more detailed information such as - -

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Thank you,

         19  Council, again.

         20                 MR. GOLDENBERG: - -  such as an

         21  additional line, whether it be, if you do get that

         22  message, see the clerk for assistance, words to that

         23  effect, let me take that back as the Council's

         24  recommendation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Something in
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          2  writing to the token booth clerks that if they have

          3  a problem that they are allowed to let people in,

          4  and also the same memo that you have all these

          5  listed what they can do, you send it to the Transit

          6  Authority Police and to the Transit Bureau of

          7  Adjudication, and also clarification of it, because

          8  it is your arm that is enforcing your laws, your

          9  regulations, and if you say that is okay, they can't

         10  say it's not okay, they don't have such rights to

         11  change the laws that they want.

         12                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Let me just say that

         13  on issues of communications to the clerks, as we

         14  have indicated that we will get you copies of the

         15  memos and the bulletins that have gone out.  In the

         16  issue of the Transit Adjudication Bureau, each case

         17  is handled on the case- by- case basis.  So I need

         18  to be a little more cautious as it were in making

         19  commitments that are going to impact the way a

         20  particular case may be adjudicated.  Each case is

         21  adjudicated on its own facts.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  One last question,

         23  what are you going to do when the token booth clerks

         24  disappear, basically, you're phasing them out, well

         25  how are you going to deal - -
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  You're not getting

          4  rid of token booth clerks?

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, they're station

          6  agents and they're going to be there.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Oh, they're

          8  station agents. Okay.  So the same token booth

          9  clerks, if they're not there they will be outside

         10  the booth as a station agent.

         11                 MR. CAPLAN:  There will a person in

         12  every station, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Okay, and they

         14  will have the same authority, hopefully, okay.

         15  Okay, Council Member Eisland has to go to another

         16  meeting right now, and I allowed her, go ahead, to

         17  vote on the Taxi Bill No. 472- B.  How do you vote?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND:  First let me

         19  thank you for the courtesy of voting, and as I

         20  understand it there isn't going to be new testimony

         21  on the bill, that you have certainly, amply

         22  discussed.  Is that accurate?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND:  Therefore, I

         25  vote aye on it, and thank you very much for the
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          2  courtesy.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Thank you, thank

          4  you.  Council Member Miller.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman. Just a couple of questions I would

          7  like to investigate.  First of all, before I give

          8  him the questions, I noted that in your testimony

          9  that you stated that the survey that the Council's

         10  Investigation Division conducted, you said, was not

         11  methodologically sound because it surveyed a lot of

         12  people in Midtown.  I do want to point out that it

         13  actually surveyed over 1,000 people at 22 subway

         14  lines covering the Bronx, Brooklyn, Manhattan and

         15  Queens, and I would suggest to you that if you

         16  survey 1,000 people in all four boroughs that these

         17  findings at least ought to be suggestive to you,

         18  certainly shouldn't be dismissed as being non-

         19  methodologically sound based upon an over survey of

         20  Midtown.  But I don't want to get into too much of a

         21  to and fro,  -

         22                 MR. CAPLAN:  Okay.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: - -  because,

         24  you know, I'm not all that hopeful, frankly, for you

         25  switching around on that subject.
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          2                 Let me just ask a couple of questions

          3  about in your testimony you state you don't want to

          4  go into the subject of the data that is held by the

          5  automatic fare collection, OMAC Audit registers

          6  displays, which apparently, as we understand it,

          7  attract the fare card total swipes, the fare card

          8  second try errors, the fare card failed to verify

          9  the first passed errors, as actually, essentially

         10  the data that we're talking about as part of this

         11  hearing.  And you stated that you want to do instead

         12  of operational surveys, could you tell us, again,

         13  exactly what it is, it is consumer related so you're

         14  concerned about that?

         15                 MR. CAPLAN:  On some of it we're

         16  worried about getting too much information about how

         17  the system works in public for obvious reasons.

         18  That is part one.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  And how

         20  would, you testified in your testimony that, what

         21  percent, you said there was a certain percentage of

         22  people that used MetroCard and a certain percentage

         23  of people that don't, right?

         24                 MR. CAPLAN:  Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  And that is
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          2  based upon, how did you get that information, did

          3  you get that information by -                MR.

          4  CAPLAN:  Swipes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  What?

          6                 MR. CAPLAN:  Swipes, from the swipes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Oh, you got

          8  it through swipes.  So you didn't send teams out to

          9  subway stations to examine which people were using

         10  little cards and which people were using tokens?

         11                 MR. CAPLAN:  Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  You got it

         13  from the information that was, - -

         14                 MR. CAPLAN:  Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: - -  from the

         16  same registered displays, from the same information

         17  that we're talking about that we're asking for this

         18  information here?

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  And that, and

         21  so how is that information different, I mean, how is

         22  the fact that you can release what percentage of

         23  people are using MetroCards and what percentage are

         24  using tokens, but you can't release what percentage

         25  of people are using MetroCards and getting through
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          2  on the first, second, or third swipe?

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  I guess the easiest

          4  parallel would be of, it's like a voting machine.  I

          5  mean, you can count up the number of votes, you can

          6  count up the number of votes for each candidate.

          7  But at the voting machine itself, you can't tell

          8  whether the same person voted once, twice, or

          9  seventeen times.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  No, but you

         11  can tell, you can tell, and you better believe that

         12  if this were on voting machines and we could tell

         13  someone voted seventeen times, the City of New York

         14  would be darned pleased, would have to share that

         15  information with us.

         16                 MR. CAPLAN:  What you have to do is

         17  link, you have to link the swipe and the card

         18  number, and make sure you got multiple card numbers,

         19  and that is the additional program.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  So it's a

         21  source issue, it's not a consumer - -

         22                 MR. CAPLAN:  Yes, that is what I

         23  said.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  No, no, no,

         25  what you said in your testimony actually - -
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: - -  Mr.

          4  Caplan, what you said in your testimony - -

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  I said we don't

          6  regularly run the reports.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: - -  what you

          8  said in your testimony and what you said earlier on

          9  during this exchange that we had here, is that it's

         10  a consumer- related data that you will not discuss

         11    - -

         12                 MR. CAPLAN:  There was certain data,

         13  right - -

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: - -  in

         15  public.

         16                 MR. CAPLAN: - -  yes, there were two

         17  things, yes, there was a list of questions, we got a

         18  long list of questions, there were certain questions

         19  specific to certain parts of that system, those we

         20  won't discuss them.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  For example,

         22  how many times does the first card, does it work on

         23  the first swipe?  And you're telling us that if you

         24  told us that it was, for example, 72 percent because

         25  it seems like your threshold that your operation's
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          2  people have said, for like a bad functioning station

          3  would be one where less than 70 percent.  So just

          4  that it's 70 percent of the time would be okay, at

          5  least, not triggering an additional review.

          6                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, that is reading a

          7  little too much into what that will at that purpose.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  All right,

          9  well you're telling us if you told us, based upon

         10  this data, which is at your fingertips, that the

         11  first time people try it, it only works 74 percent

         12  of the time, that would compromise the security.

         13                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, that wouldn't

         14  compromise, obviously.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  So then why

         16  can't you tell us?

         17                 MR. CAPLAN:  You had asked for a

         18  whole series of information that we don't regularly

         19  run, that is all I said.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:   Well, okay,

         21  but I think that - -

         22                 MR. CAPLAN:  That is all I said.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  That was part

         24  of the series of information.

         25                 MR. CAPLAN:  That is all I said.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Okay, so part

          3  of the series of information we asked for, was how

          4  many times does it work on the first try?  And you

          5  have told us now, originally you told us before that

          6  you couldn't give it to us because it was consumer-

          7  related data.

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  I never said that

          9  consumer- related.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  It's right

         11  here, it says consumer- related data, I would

         12  challenge you to find a consumer that cares whether

         13  or not you divulge that kind of information, and

         14  then you told us that it would compromise the

         15  security of the system.  Now you are telling us that

         16  you could give it to us.  We asked for it before,

         17  why can't, when you were tracking it.  We are not

         18  asking - -

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  All we said - -

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  You said you

         21  have resource problems.  Well, okay, you got

         22  resource problems, but we're not saying run whole

         23  new surveys, we're saying when you were tracking it,

         24  which you were, why can't you give us that

         25  information?
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  We were tracking it

          3  before we had these passes, it's not going to help

          4  you too much with the unlimited passes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Are you

          6  running that information on the first pass swipes

          7  now?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  I don't believe so, let

          9  me check it, because I may be right in a certain

         10  area.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  And let me

         12  just clarify because I don't really care.  I don't

         13  mean temporarily, right now, I mean, - -

         14                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, I know you don't

         15  mean this as we're not.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: - -  during

         17  the past month, let's say, or two months.

         18                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean since we may have

         19  run it at a certain station because there were

         20  problems, I can't say yes or no and I would have to

         21  get back on that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  It's my

         23  information from the staff here, and I would be

         24  interested in if you can contradict this, that that

         25  information on the first pass swipes is to provide
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          2  it to Ms. Atefeh Riazzi's Deputy on a regular basis.

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  Well, let me check into

          4  that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Okay, so if

          6  it is provided to her on a regular basis, you would

          7  be happy to share it with us?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  Sure, if there is

          9  something there.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Terrific,

         11  well that is great news.  Let me then ask one other

         12  things, we would look forward to getting that

         13  information, obviously, the first pass, the third

         14  time swipes, and I think that this could actually,

         15  that kind of statistical information would set aside

         16  your concerns about the methodological survey, our

         17  concerns, and certainly, look we're not completely

         18  unreasonable people, if something takes three times

         19  to go through that doesn't mean that we're going to

         20  think or the public should think, or anyone will

         21  think that that simple fact means that every single

         22  time that the swiper is used that the reader is

         23  wrong.  Certainly I accept it, I have used it wrong

         24  occasionally and then I swiped it again.  Nobody is

         25  perfect, but there is no reason, I think, and I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  think this was proven, that you can't share that

          3  information with us, that we can't share that

          4  information with the public, so that we can get a

          5  clear picture.

          6                 The one other concern, and this

          7  actually I think is an even more serious concern on

          8  my part, is, what seems to me to be a real

          9  structural unfairness in the way that MTA treats the

         10  customers, and that is, to have the unlimited

         11  MetroCard lock out for 18 minutes, and yet, to have,

         12  I believe, the Transit Authority employees are

         13  issued a card which are similar to an unlimited ride

         14  MetroCard, right?  And that card has a lock out of

         15  only six minutes.  Now what possible rationale can

         16  the Transit Authority have for saying that

         17  customers, who are actually paying for their cards,

         18  who aren't being given as part of the benefit of

         19  service, they're actually paying their top dollar,

         20  $63 for a month unlimited ride, and they're being

         21  treated at three times as poorly as it were, as

         22  Transit Authority employees.  What rationale does

         23  the Transit Authority have for that?

         24                 MR. CAPLAN:  I would believe that the

         25  rationale has to do with the possibility in the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  second case of people buying MetroCard and swiping

          3  you in for a dollar.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Okay, so

          5  which would be to say, if I can follow this for just

          6  a moment, that what you're saying there is that you

          7  consider the public who is paying for the privileges

          8  of an unlimited ride to be more dishonest than the

          9  average Transit Authority employee.

         10                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, all you're saying is

         11  that there are people who will commit fraud, without

         12  saying, no, that is all you're saying.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  No, there are

         14  people who will commit fraud.

         15                 MR. CAPLAN:  There are people who

         16  will commit fraud.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  There are

         18  Transit Authority employees, so what you're saying

         19  is, is that you consider the average rider of the

         20  subway more likely to take his family down to the

         21  station, stand there, pass himself through, wait six

         22  minutes, say honey, here is the card, she passes

         23  through, they wait six minutes, and then they pass

         24  it, hey, Georgie, you come through as well.

         25                 MR. CAPLAN:  No.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  And then six

          3  more minutes, 30 minutes later a family of five, - -

          4                 MR. CAPLAN:  That isn't the fraud.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  And then

          6  proceeds along to there destination.  They are more

          7  likely than the Transit Authority to do the same

          8  thing.

          9                 MR. CAPLAN:  That is not the fraud,

         10  I'm not talking about the average.  There is no

         11  reason to suggest that the average and that either

         12  place is worse than the other.  But what you can say

         13  is that there are at least a small number of people

         14  who will do that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Yes, but why

         16  are they, but why do you view, see, hear what I'm

         17  saying is, I'm not disputing that that is not

         18  possible.  But you took, there are certainly a small

         19  number of Transit Authority employees that might do

         20  that, right?  Or are you saying that, I mean, I'm a

         21  fan of Transit Authority employees, I think they're

         22  terrific people, they're hard working people, but I

         23  also think that regular New Yorkers are terrific

         24  people and hard- working people.  I'm not sure that

         25  I'm prepared to say at this time, and I don't think
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          2  the Transit Authority should be saying it at this

          3  time that they consider the Transit Authority

          4  employees to be three times as honest as regular New

          5  Yorkers.

          6                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, of course not, of

          7  course not.              COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:

          8  You're not, but that is exactly what you're saying,

          9  you're saying that there are people who are going to

         10  fraudulent with this system.  So that in order to

         11  address that fraudulence, we feel the need to make

         12  the time period being three times as long for the

         13  transit riding public as we feel it to be for

         14  ourselves.  Oh, no, we can't, we're not going, I'm

         15  not, because you know that, you know, for your

         16  employees if they get locked out because of some

         17  misfunctioning of the system, they don't want to sit

         18  there for 18 minutes before they can go in, six

         19  minutes is pretty reasonable, it's long enough so

         20  that you say, you know what, nobody really is going

         21  to wait around for six minutes, because it's a long

         22  time, watch two or hopefully, two trains go by, but

         23  more likely one train go by.  But the public should

         24  have to wait 18 minutes.

         25                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, because in order to
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          2  make the thing work, what you have to do is to have

          3  enough cards so that you avoid the lock out

          4  limitation.  And the difference between 18 minutes

          5  is you would have to buy so many cards, that in most

          6  cases, it would not be worth a fraudulent person's

          7  wild to do that.  Once you lower the amount of time,

          8  than you need fewer cards to do the scam, that is

          9  all.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  All right,

         11  well I would suggest to you that you should focus on

         12  enforcement and not punish the public, and you ought

         13  to treat the public the same way you treat your own

         14  employees.

         15                 And let me just finally say that I

         16  also think you ought to, my understanding is, that

         17  there was supposed to be an address, you're supposed

         18  to address the lock out provision with regard to

         19  other stations, because sometimes, and that has not

         20  been done yet, and I don't understand what the delay

         21  is, and I would urge you to do it.

         22                 And I thank the Chairman and my

         23  colleagues for their patience.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  What is

         25  interesting is, if you're concerned about fraud and
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          2  someone who is going to buy the card and sell it for

          3  a dollar each ride with the same card, so they can

          4  wait, not six minutes, so they wait 18 minutes, they

          5  will go with the same fraud.

          6                 MR. CAPLAN:  What you do, is you buy

          7  multiple cards, you buy multiple cards.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Right, even if

          9  they do one card, every 18 minutes.

         10                 MR. CAPLAN:  Yes, no, that wouldn't

         11  do it.  What you have to do, is, you would have to

         12  buy a multiple number of cards so that you have a

         13  reasonable amount of cards, - -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Or the same card.

         15                 MR. CAPLAN: - -  and you can actually

         16  expect that amount of customers so you can make

         17  money on it.  If you do it in 18 minutes, you are

         18  less likely to do that, that is the reason we picked

         19  18 minutes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  If you want to do

         21  fraud, you can do it every 18 minutes as well, just

         22  stand there, and just even one card.

         23                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, but then you have to

         24  buy so many more cards to - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  No, no, no.
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  The same card

          4  every 18 minutes.

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, that is not worth

          6  anybody's wild, what you do is you buy multiple

          7  cards and you stand there and you rotate them and

          8  let people in.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  That could be

         10  another way of fraud.

         11                 MR. CAPLAN:  And that is why you do

         12  the 18 minutes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  And that is why

         14  you have enforcement, and that is why we have to do

         15  is enforcement.  And you're saying that the average

         16  customer you're not concerned about. So let's deal

         17  with the average customer as with respect, and then

         18  we will deal with the fraud.

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  And the average customer

         20  has a way to get in when the problem strikes, which

         21  is to go to the token booth clerk and be let in.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Which we know is

         23  not necessarily true, so let's move on.  Council

         24  Member McCaffrey.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:   Mr.
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          2  Caplan, let me just ask you a couple of questions.

          3  First, on the item that my colleague, Mr. Miller,

          4  was just asking on terms of the issue on

          5   "confidential customer- related data," who are we

          6  afraid this information is going to fall into their

          7  hands, China?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  No.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  A rode

         10  terrorist state?

         11                 MR. CAPLAN:  No.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  A

         13  competitive subway system?

         14                 MR. CAPLAN:  No.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  So what

         16  the heck are you talking about here?

         17                 MR. CAPLAN:  Hackers.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Who?

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  Hackers.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  So now

         21  you're going to tell us that hackers out there are

         22  going to end up having a situation in which for the

         23  rest of the system, right, in terms of monitoring,

         24  that you're not going to know what the rest of the

         25  system is, - -
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, I said that certain

          3  of the data that was in those questions would raise

          4  that issue.  I didn't say that all of it would, I

          5  said that some of it would.  And we're just not

          6  going to compromise on security of the system.  I

          7  mean that cost us all billions, we're not going to

          8  do that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  So then

         10  you do have the information?

         11                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, no, I said that some

         12  information, some of the technical information was

         13  requested in those questions would be of that

         14  nature, and we're simply not compromising the

         15  integrity of the system.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Do you

         17  have, right now,- -

         18                 MR. CAPLAN:  Some of the other

         19  information we - -

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY: - -  fare

         21  card total swipe information right now?

         22                 MR. CAPLAN:  Do you mean how many

         23  people swipe? That is how we got the percentages

         24  that I talked about.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  No, I'm
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          2  talking about, excuse me, okay, thanks, on the basis

          3  of a computer profile, software profile, can you

          4  tell us that information?

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  Well, I can tell you,

          6  you know, 75.1 percent of the rides were taken with

          7  MetroCard, if that is what you mean.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  No, no,

          9  no, just listen to me for a moment.

         10                 MR. CAPLAN:  Okay.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  On the

         12  basis of computer software, can you tell us that

         13  category?

         14                 MR. CAPLAN:  Tell us what?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  On the

         16  basis of the fare card total swipes on computer

         17  software?

         18                 MR. CAPLAN:  How many total swipes

         19  there are?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  On the

         21  basis of computer software?

         22                 MR. CAPLAN:  Total swipes, I believe

         23  so, yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay.  On

         25  the fare card second try errors, can computer
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          2  software tell us that information?

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  I believe you would have

          4  to reprogrammed that, because you would have to link

          5  the swipes to the numbers.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  So it's a

          7  programming issue in terms of that.

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  And therefore resources

          9  show that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  On the

         11  failed card failed to verify, can the computer

         12  software do that?

         13                 MR. CAPLAN: You can tell how many

         14  times something failed to verify, again, if you want

         15  to link it to the number of cards, it's a different

         16  issue.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay.  On

         18  the first pass errors, can computer software do

         19  that?

         20                 MR. CAPLAN:  I believe it can.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay.  And

         22  on the patrons swipe errors, can the system do that?

         23                 MR. CAPLAN:  Again, it's an issue of

         24  linking errors with people, maybe not.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay.  And
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          2  on third pass errors?

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  Same thing.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay.

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean, if you want to

          6  issue, if you want to link - -

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  So the

          8  question is that the computer software exists,

          9  potentially.

         10                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, there is data in the

         11  system, or there are data in the system which if you

         12  retrieve them properly and had the proper programs

         13  and generated the right reports and invested that

         14  time and money, yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay, and

         16  so now what you're saying is that in that type of

         17  information you cannot share that with the members

         18  of the Council?

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, no, I'm saying some

         20  of the information, some information we can't share,

         21  some information just isn't collected regularly, and

         22  the information that is collected, I already talked

         23  to someone and promised that we would give you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:   Mr.

         25  Caplan, let me go to the information that you say
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          2  you can't share.  You can't share it with whom, now?

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  Can't share it in a

          4  manner where it could become public.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay, so

          6  as you well know, the Council has the provisions in

          7  terms of confidentiality, as in any case of it, as

          8  any legislative body does, are you saying that the

          9  Council cannot receive it on that basis?

         10                 MR. CAPLAN:  I said that we would, my

         11  testimony says that we will not share in public some

         12  of the information, yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  So if we

         14  are meeting in Executive Session, you will share

         15  that information with us?

         16                 MR. CAPLAN:  It depends on the

         17  information, some information we just - -

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  No, no, I

         19  understand what the information is.

         20                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean, we're just not

         21  going to compromise the integrity of the system,

         22  just not, just not going to do that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Is there

         24  something that you think that the Chairman has a

         25  second life as a hacker?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 MR. CAPLAN: Of course not, no, no,

          3  no.  I mean you just don't get, share that kind of

          4  stuff, nobody does this.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Does

          6  Council Member Stabile look like he is in that

          7  category?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, everybody is

          9  honorable here, we're not worried about that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Council

         11  Member Freed, have you given up that life?

         12                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, we're not making any

         13  comment about that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  But you

         15  understand, Mr. Caplan, what I am saying to you,

         16  that when you say that you cannot then give this to

         17  a properly, and elected constituted body, that is

         18  more outrageous in terms of insult than members are

         19  prepared to accept.  How do I trust you with the

         20  information?  How do I know you're not out doing it?

         21    How do I know that there isn't a Transit Authority

         22  employee not out giving it to hackers?

         23                 MR. CAPLAN:  We don't.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay,

         25  fine, so now give us the same presumptions - -
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  But that doesn't mean

          3  that all Transit Authority people know that, some of

          4  that stuff, I don't know some of that stuff.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Mr.

          6  Caplan, do you understand really what you're saying

          7  to this Council?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  I am trying to say that

          9  there is some information we will not release

         10  publicly, and that is all I'm trying to say.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Right, and

         12  for reasons that are insulting, and quite frankly,

         13  for which the legislative body is, if we were to

         14  turn around and we had the authority to subpoena

         15  you, you would have the information in a matter of

         16  minutes.

         17                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, I mean, we're

         18  talking about public information, that is all I

         19  talked about, that is all I have talked about.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  But I have

         21  said to you in a non- public setting, I have asked

         22  you the following, are you prepared to give to the

         23  Chair and to the Speaker of the Council, in a

         24  fashion that is not made public, that type of

         25  information for their review?
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean, let us see the

          3  information and I would think that duly constituted

          4  legislative bodies have a right to information, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  But you

          6  have seen the information for you to have made a

          7  determination that it is confidential and government

          8  elected.

          9                 MR. CAPLAN:  Well, we were asked to

         10  give public testimony on certain things, and we're

         11  very basically saying, we will not give public

         12  testimony on certain things, and that is all.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay, and

         14  so you're not precluding from giving it us in

         15  private?

         16                 MR. CAPLAN:  And that is all, no,

         17  that is all we said.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Mr.

         19  Caplan, you also ended up saying that the system in

         20  terms of your analysis has, in essence, a failure

         21  rate of .02 percent.

         22                 MR. CAPLAN:  What I specifically said

         23  and you can characterize that as whatever, is that

         24  all but .2 percent of the people eventually get into

         25  the system.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Right.

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  Now I said that about 98

          4  percent of them, you know, make it in at a certain

          5  point.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Out of

          7  your one billion nine hundred thirty million rides a

          8  year, tell me what that number translates to?

          9                 MR. CAPLAN:  All right, .2 of 1

         10  percent of a billion five, and whatever it is, it is

         11  in absolute terms a number.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Thousands,

         13  it's thousands.

         14                 MR. CAPLAN:  And you know, it is, in

         15  absolute terms it's fine.  But it's even, you know,

         16   - -

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  But, Mr.

         18  Caplan, can you not - -

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  It's better than 90, you

         20  know, ninety nine and forty- four hundredths percent

         21  pure, that is all.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Mr.

         23  Caplan, can you not utter the words that that

         24  translates into thousands, can you say that?

         25                 MR. CAPLAN:  To thousands, sure.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay.  So

          3  now the question then come in terms of what of the

          4  process dealing with the thousands of individuals,

          5  you have heard two anecdotal cases today, but there

          6  are thousands of cases.

          7                 MR. CAPLAN: Right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  And that

          9  is what we're saying to you, the process has to - -

         10                 MR. CAPLAN:  And we are saying that

         11  we have a way to deal with those people who don't

         12  make it in the system.  If you don't make it into

         13  the system because you have an unlimited ride pass,

         14  there is a remedy, which is to go to the clerk.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay, now

         16   - -

         17                 MR. CAPLAN:  If you don't make it in,

         18  if you get double dipped, there is a remedy, which

         19  is to write for a refund.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  In your

         21  testimony you did not address the issue, oh, well,

         22  the remedy of going to the clerk, and it goes to the

         23  point of the reliability of that mechanism,

         24  specifically in terms of the instructions that are

         25  out there, which are for someone who has managed to
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          2  mistakenly read the pamphlet, ends up thinking,

          3  well, I have no reason to go to that person, he

          4  cannot, because of the instructions of the Transit

          5  Authority, resolve my problem.

          6                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean, basically, that

          7  doesn't stop people.  You know, we don't have to

          8  teach New Yorkers how to complain, people have been

          9  used to not getting in the system for a long time.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Okay, so

         11  you will agree not to print that again, that

         12  instruction in the pamphlet?

         13                 MR. CAPLAN:  Well, there is an

         14  instruction in which the clerks are not permitted to

         15  give you refunds, there are a whole series of

         16  things.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:

         18  Understood.

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  I think we should make

         20  it very clear and we will do that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Right, but

         22  that is not  -

         23                 MR. CAPLAN:  And even that unlimited

         24  ride passes can be let in under the circumstances

         25  that we have described.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  In the

          3  case now, there are two areas are particular

          4  sensitive.  In the case of the second witness who

          5  came, late at night, unescorted woman, great

          6  concerns for her personal safety, what do I do?  The

          7  clerk said to her, I can't help you.  What was she

          8  supposed to have done at that point, tell me?

          9                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean, when people do

         10  not do - -

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  No, not

         12  people, that woman, what was she supposed to do?

         13                 MR. CAPLAN:  What could she do?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  What was

         15  she supposed to do?

         16                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean, she had to do

         17  what she did.  I mean, what else would you do as a

         18  real person, what else would you do?  I mean, the

         19  clerk was wrong, the police, from that description

         20  were wrong.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  I'm happy

         22  to hear that, I mean, that is, at least, a step in

         23  the right direction.

         24                 And lastly, in terms of what policy

         25  you are now going to take in terms of the
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          2  instructions.  Each of the station clerks has aside

          3  from the bulletins, what are the other mechanisms

          4  that you do by way of that?

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  For policy communication

          6  it is basically that there have been courses, you

          7  know, for knew clerks when you get how to run

          8  everything, that kind of thing.  And, you know,

          9  there are some courses.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:

         11  Respectively, is that going to be an item that is

         12  going to be presented to those station clerks as to

         13  how you are dealing with certain circumstances?

         14                 MR. CAPLAN:  Yes, I would think that

         15  under the current circumstances, where there seem to

         16  be still problems, we will redouble our efforts to

         17  make sure that the clerks are aware of what the

         18  procedures - -

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  And what

         20  is the penalty on that?

         21                 MR. CAPLAN:  I don't know if it is

         22  dismissal on that, but it obviously gets part of the

         23  record.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  But there

         25  would be - -
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  And there would be some

          3  of sort of action taken.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY: In terms of

          5  that, okay. Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Okay, thank you.

          7  Council Member Stabile.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Several

          9  problems that really don't, first of all, when

         10  people come before any Committee, so far, to

         11  testify, they always come with the same exact

         12  answers, they don't know, they're not positive.  I

         13  wish they would stop sending people to these

         14  hearings that don't know or not positive. If

         15  something is read in a piece of literature that is

         16  put out by your agency, you say one thing, the

         17  literature says something totally different,

         18  somewhere along the line here there is no

         19  communication.  You're telling me that police

         20  officers who are assigned to transit duty are not

         21  part of the Transit Authority to make sure, they

         22  have nothing to do with the Transit Authority.  So

         23  what the hell are they doing down there?

         24                 Now if a person gets mugged down

         25  there, isn't that Transit Authority property?
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          2  Aren't we supposed to have the police down there?

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean, we have talked -

          4   -

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  I mean,

          6  you're being ridiculous, let me tell you why it's

          7  ridiculous.  First of all, here is a young lady,

          8  let's say, I don't know if you have a daughter or

          9  relation that age, three o'clock in the morning

         10  where the token booth such an arrogant son- of- a-

         11  gun that he wouldn't even address her.  Okay,

         12  regardless of what the situation was, but your book

         13  says that he has no right to answer her or does have

         14  the right to answer her, whatever you want to make

         15  it say.  Okay, that is number one.

         16                 Two police officers see this going

         17  on, the woman confronts with the card, the Sergeant

         18  is called, and she is still given an arrest.  What

         19  type of City is this, where is this passion, loving,

         20  caring City, where is the Metropolitan Transit

         21  working with us?

         22                 I want to address E- Z Pass also.

         23  All it is, is a way of anti- union to take human

         24  beings from jobs and putting in machines.  Why don't

         25  we get to the facts, that is what it comes down to.
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          2  Get people off of jobs and put more machines there,

          3  and that is what it comes down to, and I don't know

          4  how the hell the unions are standing for it.  I

          5  refuse to put E- Z Pass in my car.

          6                 In the same sense, you keep saying

          7  about, well, we will write a memo for those two

          8  young people, I think it is a disgrace.  I think

          9  these people should go hollering from the highest

         10  building in the City of New York of what a disgrace

         11  it was how they were treated.  We are supposed to be

         12  the capital of the world, which I believe in, we're

         13  supposed to have the greatest transportation system

         14  in the world.  Yet you're telling me that the card

         15  doesn't work and it's three o'clock in the morning,

         16  and in one vein you're saying, well, she did the

         17  right thing, but yet she was given a summons.  So it

         18  doesn't make sense to me.

         19                 On the other vein, and this is really

         20  it gets me, you have two police officers, how many

         21  police officers do we have sitting in subways just

         22  waiting for fare beaters?

         23                 MR. CAPLAN:  Ask the Police

         24  Commissioner, the police are City police.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  And so the
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          2  MTA has no, we have no, we don't request police

          3  officers down there.  You're telling me now - -

          4                 MR. CAPLAN:  We have an agreement - -

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: - -  while

          6  the camera is on, while everyone is here, that - -

          7                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, we have an agreement

          8   - -

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: - -  you

         10  don't care?

         11                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, what I'm saying is,

         12  we do, you know, the police do not report to us, we

         13  coordinate with the Police Department, we try to

         14  provide them with all the information, we have

         15  regular meetings, regular discussions.  The tree for

         16  the Transit Bureau comes to Transit Committee

         17  meetings where it can be addressed by the Board

         18  members, where people come before the Board to

         19  provide input.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Do we ask

         21  for - -

         22                 MR. CAPLAN:  For police officers to

         23  report to us, no.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  We don't ask

         25  for police officers, - -
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  What?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: - -  in other

          4  words, they just do it on their own?

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  What?  No, I didn't say

          6  that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  We don't

          8  suggest having police officers down there checking

          9  for fare beaters.

         10                 MR. CAPLAN:  Of course we tell the

         11  police where there are problems.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  So we do

         13  request it?

         14                 MR. CAPLAN:  We tell them where there

         15  are problems.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Okay, so if

         17  we're telling them where the problems are, we want a

         18  solution to these problems, aren't we asking them to

         19  come up with a solution?  Or let me put it very

         20  simply, let's say, are we asking for a police

         21  presence?

         22                 MR. CAPLAN:  We have an agreement

         23  with the City on police presence.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Okay,

         25  granted.  How many police presence do we have right
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          2  now in the subway system, just looking for fare

          3  beaters?

          4                 MR. CAPLAN:  Part of that you have to

          5  ask the Police Department.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  We have no

          7  statistics on that, we have no figures on that?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  The Police Department

          9  certainly has them.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Okay, then

         11  the other question, and it goes back to the same

         12  thing now about manpower, the token booth being

         13  discourteous, yet, they were so given. You're

         14  telling me how these hearing officers that are hired

         15  or contracted by the MTA now, same way as Motor

         16  Vehicle contracts them.  Who do they take their

         17  marching orders from?

         18                 MR. CAPLAN:  I think that marching

         19  orders may not be quite the right term there, quasi-

         20  independent, quasi- judicial, definitely independent

         21  people.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  They don't

         23  take the orders from TA?

         24                 MR. CAPLAN:  Orders is a little

         25  strong.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  They don't

          3  follow the procedure of the TA?

          4                 MR. CAPLAN:  We talked about exactly

          5  what the relationship is between Transit Authority

          6  and the hearing officers, and I think that stands, I

          7  can't add very much to that, but that is what it is,

          8  they're hearing officers.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Okay, so why

         10  didn't we, when we requested the information, did

         11  the TA intervene not to get us the information?

         12                 MR. CAPLAN:  I believe that all the

         13  information that the Transit Adjudication Bureau

         14  said they kept track of has been provided.  If that

         15  is wrong, I'm in error, but that is what their

         16  letters to the Council say.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Most of it

         18  was obtained, but why did you have to intervene

         19  then?  If you're not giving them marching orders,

         20  and you have nothing to do with the Transit Police

         21  being down there, and all this, then why was your

         22  agency intervening in this?

         23                 MR. GOLDENBERG:  Council Member

         24  Stabile, I don't think there was any intervention.

         25  I think that a request was made of Personnel at the
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          2  Transit Adjudication Bureau for various numbers, and

          3  the information that was tracked was provided, and

          4  the letter indicated that in other instances they

          5  did not keep that data.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  What

          7  frustrates me is that we want to be rider friendly,

          8  we want people to use the subway, we want to use our

          9  mass transit all around.  I want to agree, the same

         10  thing with the livery cabs, everything else.  But

         11  let me ask you a question, could you honestly sit

         12  here and go home tonight, and believe those two

         13  individuals have a good impression of the MTA, of

         14  the Transit Authority as a whole, as the City

         15  Council, as the Police Department, as a City,

         16  somebody is dropping the ball, or saying, which is

         17  very common, hey, I don't know, it's not our agency,

         18  we don't oversee it, we don't oversee it.  Somewhere

         19  along the line someone has to take the

         20  responsibility for this.

         21                 MR. CAPLAN:  I mean, we are saying

         22  that they are mad as hell and have a right to be so.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  What happens

         24  if it were a pregnant woman, or a woman with an

         25  infant?
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  We have an institution

          3  that is run by humans, that does a good job,

          4  generally, - -

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Without

          6  humanity, but if there is no humanity, - -

          7                 MR. CAPLAN: - -  and we have serious

          8   - -

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: - -  without

         10  the word humanity added to it - -

         11                 MR. CAPLAN: - -  those two cases are

         12  serious, you can't deny it that what happened to

         13  them was wrong, you can't deny it, you shouldn't

         14  deny it.  But I think you then to generalize as on a

         15  condition of the system is just, is not accurate, is

         16  not fair. I mean there are going to be cases and

         17  there should be recompense to those people, but to

         18  justify, to criticize the system, I think, is not

         19  quite fair, because I think the test of the system

         20  is what I talked about in the testimony I mean,

         21  which is a clear, huge, increase in the number of

         22  people using this system because of the benefits

         23  that MetroCard and the associated programs provide.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  If there is

         25  a crack, - -
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  And if there is one

          3  person who has a problem, we would like to have no

          4  persons with a problem, but we are human.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Okay, so if

          6  there was a crack, then maybe the City Council of

          7  the City of New York with some of the help of some

          8  of media, should put out a full- page ad requesting

          9  everyone in this City, or everyone in the City who

         10  has had a problem to come forward with it, and maybe

         11  we could full City Hall with the testimony and see

         12  exactly how many people have been, literally,

         13  screwed around with this whole system.  You know

         14  what bothers me, it's not even a mistake of the

         15  computer that bothers me, because it happens, it's

         16  error, what bothers me is the callous reaction by

         17  the police and the token booth, that bothers me,

         18  because if that young lady would have walked

         19  outside, and, God forbid, she was raped or hurt

         20  seriously, you know, realistically that token booth

         21  and those two police officers - -  and you know what

         22  bothers me too, were the police officers watching

         23  the token booth at all, were they aware of what was

         24  going on?  There is mirrors down there.

         25                 MR. CAPLAN:  Ask the police, I mean,
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          2  you're right, they were bad, what are you going to

          3  say?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Council Member

          5  Freed.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair. Gentlemen, I'm not going to shout, even

          8  though it's not that I'm not equally frustrated with

          9  all my colleagues.  It just seems to me, having sat

         10  up here and listened to most of this and having

         11  dealt with the Transit Authority in the past, that

         12  it is clear that you really have nothing but

         13  contempt for your ridership, and pretty much the

         14  same amount of contempt for this body, given some of

         15  the answers that we have got.  And you know if it

         16  were an isolated incident, maybe I could understand

         17  that, but year after year having to try to deal with

         18  the Transit Authority, we get into the same kind of

         19  Catch- 22 and ridiculous answers constantly.  We

         20  have a Transit Authority that does not listen to its

         21  ridership, I mean, it's right, where would we go,

         22  cabs?  I mean, yes, probably, and a number of us do.

         23    Or illegal vans, and don't think it's an accident

         24  that we have as many illegal vans, even with the

         25  Metro Passes, which are supposed to cut down on
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          2  that.

          3                 It's clear, I don't know who you are

          4  listening to, and I don't know who makes policy for

          5  the Transit Authority, but I know it is someone who

          6  doesn't particularly like the citizens of the City

          7  or people passing through.  It isn't just this, I

          8  can tell you that on the West Side, right now, we're

          9  having a lot of problems with buses, where buses

         10  were rerouted, where there are no people, and we're

         11  told that, well, the buses go faster now.  Well,

         12  they do, there just aren't any people in them, of

         13  course, they go faster.

         14                 I mean, it's the same kind of

         15  attitude and you really do need, you know, you need

         16  an attitude adjustment.  You have got to start

         17  listening to the ridership of this City, I mean,

         18  this whole, I mean, really, Catch- 22 absurd story

         19  where someone does everything she can to get on the

         20  subway and then she gets arrested, and then you take

         21  the money.  Or for the first gentleman, where the

         22  adjudicatory was clearly sympathetic, but was told

         23  it was Transit Authority precedence that that was

         24  your rule.  Who made that rule, that is crazy?  How

         25  you can have a theft of services when you already
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          2  paid for the services?  I mean, it's basic legal and

          3  it's basic sense.

          4                 So what I want to know is, do you

          5  have any idea how much money you have collected in

          6  fines from these people that have gotten, you know,

          7  from people who have gotten caught in that Catch 22?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  I believe the

          9  Adjudication Bureau said it did not have numbers of

         10  that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Why not?  In

         12  other words, you didn't want to have numbers on it.

         13                 MR. CAPLAN:  What?  No, because then,

         14  in a lot of cases, in most court cases, I mean, if

         15  you want to go back and study exactly what the

         16  verdicts are, you have to go back and compile the

         17  data by hand, and it is characteristic of most

         18  judicial systems.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:   You know

         20  what, I bet you --

         21                 MR. CAPLAN:  It may be wrong, but

         22  that is most judicial systems act on a case- by-

         23  case basis and don't just keep it as a matter of

         24  course, maybe they should.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Where does
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          2  that money go?

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  Transit.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Where?

          5                 MR. CAPLAN:  Back to Transit.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Then don't you

          7  know how much money you got?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN:  Yes, we know how much

          9  money we got, but what I can't tell you is how much

         10  money we got from fare - -

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  But I'm sure

         12  there is a list somewhere that says we got X dollars

         13  from this and X dollars from that.

         14                 MR. CAPLAN:  Oh, yes, right, but

         15  whether - -

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  So chances are

         17  that you can divide it by the amount of money for a

         18  fine and figure out how many people paid fines?

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  You can get figures,

         20  what you can't get is how many figures were fined,

         21  how many people were fined for turnstile jumping,

         22  that is much harder to get.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  All right, let

         24  me ask you a few other things, one thing, if, what

         25  are you going to do when you get rid of all the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            115

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  token clerks as you problem with your Metro Pass,

          3  who are you going to ask?

          4                 MR. CAPLAN:  We're not getting rid of

          5  all the token clerks, there will be a human presence

          6  in every station, we are not getting rid of them,

          7  we're making them station agents.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  And they will

          9  be told in cases of problems like this - -

         10                 MR. CAPLAN:  And we are hoping that -

         11   -

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: - -  they would

         13  actually let people in, they will get a new manual

         14  telling them they can do that?

         15                 MR. CAPLAN:  We are hoping to

         16  transform that, this is not going to happen

         17  overnight, but that is exactly what the plan is.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  All right, let

         19  me ask you about vendoring machines.  We understand

         20  that there are a lot of people saying that they were

         21  being overcharged on their credit cards, where is

         22  that at?

         23                 MR. CAPLAN:  Okay, what happened,

         24  remember these machines are in test.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  They are?
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  They are in test, they

          3  are in a test phase, you know, there are two

          4  locations and it is being tested so that you catch

          5  the errors before anything serious happens.  What

          6  happened was that about three thousand people were

          7  doubled charged, almost all of those were corrected

          8  before their statements went out.  There were about

          9  250 people, who because of the credit card companies

         10  billing cycles were actually doubled, and in some

         11  cases four times billed.

         12                 It is my understanding that all those

         13  have subsequently been corrected and people have

         14  received the appropriate credits.  This, credit card

         15  errors do happen and it happens to everyone, and it

         16  happens - -

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  You guys seem

         18  to have a lot of problems.

         19                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, that is fairly

         20  standard, that is why they're in this stage so that

         21  when they get released publicly, you don't have that

         22  problem.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Let me just

         24  try and clear up two other questions.  There were

         25  some questions before about when the 18- minute
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          2  lockout was going to be reduced to six minutes.  We

          3  understand that it was supposed to have been done

          4  initially last fall, then someone was told it was

          5  going to be done this spring, it's spring, what is

          6  the story, when will it happen?

          7                 MR. CAPLAN:  It wasn't the reduction,

          8  it was making it from a system wide to a site

          9  specific location, which turned out to have some

         10  software problems to do, and that is the issue and

         11  they are working on correcting them so that, I can't

         12  promise a day because we don't have a date, but when

         13  that is corrected the idea is to make the lockout

         14  stations specific, so if you're locked out, you

         15  know, you can go to the clerk and be let in, and you

         16  don't get locked out of the rest of the system if

         17  you in it, and that is what we're going to do.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  And that is

         19  going to be reduced from 18 minutes down to six

         20  minutes?

         21                 MR. CAPLAN:  I don't think at this

         22  point we are going to reduce it for the reasons that

         23  I talked about earlier, but we believe - -

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  I know, I

         25  know, the general public is dishonest and Transit
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          2  Authority employees aren't.

          3                 MR. CAPLAN:  No, that is not what I

          4  said, that is not what I said, and I really want to

          5  emphasize that, that is not what I said.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Well, you have

          7  to admit in just simple fairness, it sounds fair, no

          8  pun intended, by the way. So as far as the other

          9  one, when do you think you will the station specific

         10  up and running?

         11                 MR. CAPLAN:  I can't promise a date,

         12  but we're hoping to get it done soon.  I mean, it's

         13  a problem that has to be fixed, and the programmers

         14  have to fix it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  All right,

         16  then one last question on the Fun Pass, which is,

         17  when the Straphangers Campaign did a survey of all

         18  the areas that are supposed to have the Fun Pass,

         19  only 55 percent of the stores surveyed had it, or 55

         20  percent didn't have it and 45 percent had it.

         21                 MR. CAPLAN:  Forty- five percent had

         22  it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Right, so

         24  where are we, what is the story with that, when will

         25  they have it?
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN:  Okay, most of it, as far

          3  as we can tell and I just got the actual report

          4  itself, what you're seeing with the Fun Pass is that

          5  the people, these people are in business to make

          6  money, if they could sell this product, they would

          7  keep this product.  What is happening is that the

          8  demand for the Fun Pass seems to be what we said it

          9  was, which is that it is primarily a tourist

         10  instrument.  So that the places in Manhattan are

         11  selling it, it is the places in the other boroughs

         12  that are not selling it, and that is because, it

         13  would appear, that the regular citizens have their

         14  needs satisfied by the other variety of fare median

         15  and don't to any significant extent need this.  To

         16  the extent, and we want to offer this as an option,

         17  we are going to accelerate and have already taken

         18  steps to do so, to purchase the vending machines so

         19  that it would be more generally available both

         20  within the system and we're going to put vending

         21  machines outside the system.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Although,

         23  obviously, you have to have it at the places - -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: - -  that you
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          2  say you're going to have it, that is why people

          3  would be frustrated and not be able to get it.

          4                 Anyway, thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Thank you.  Okay,

          6  before I have a list of things I want you to do, but

          7  before we do that, we just have to take a vote on

          8  Proposed Intro. 472- B, it's an amended version,

          9  obviously, of 472.  Let's do a quick vote, call,

         10  take out of turn, Gifford Miller.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Miller.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Aye.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Okay, call the

         14  roll, continue calling the roll.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Dear.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McCaffrey.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCCAFFREY:  Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Freed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Nelson.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Stabile.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  We're voting

         25  on what?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  On 472- B, it's a

          3  Taxi Bill.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  I can't vote

          5  on it until I make a few statements.  Okay?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Quick, I'm letting

          7  you go.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  I'm going to

          9  be as quick as I can.  I have some real serious

         10  questions about this, one is the insurance that

         11  drivers that have exceeded 9 points as of July of

         12   '98, why should they be allowed to have a clean

         13  slate now?  Why should these drivers, the worst of

         14  the drivers be wiped clean of all their sins?  What

         15  are we the next coming of the Blessed Mother? If

         16  they commit a crime, 9 points accumulated, and we're

         17  going to say by the flip of a switch, we're

         18  forgetting about the 9 points now.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Council member, I

         20  think, explain your vote, and then, you know.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Well, first

         22  of all, I thought we would have a little more

         23  information on this since this bill was changed, and

         24  I think it is really wrong to just flip it out and

         25  say this is the way it is going to be.  I mean the
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          2  other thing is, why the persistent violator program,

          3  is this going to clear all these drivers who have

          4  these 9 points already accumulated, we are not being

          5  user friendly.  I think this should be added into

          6  this bill.  I mean, we're voting on something that I

          7  think really hasn't been fully addressed, and there

          8  is only one, I have gone over all the other changes

          9  and I kind of agree with all the other changes, I

         10  just think this one thing of wiping a slate clean

         11  for a driver, who has committed these offenses

         12  should be just taken away.  And I know that Mr.

         13  Chair is not listening, but I believe it should be

         14  addressed.  You're saying that a person who has

         15  committed 9 violations should just be wiped clean of

         16  all his sins and starting all over again.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Again, you

         18  explained your vote, how do you vote now?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Does the

         20  Chairman agree with that?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Again, explaining

         22  your vote does not question and answer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE:  Then I have

         24  to vote no.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Okay.  Go ahead,
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          2  continue.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  By a vote of 6

          4  in the affirmative, 1 in the negative, with no

          5  abstentions, the item is adopted, please, sign the

          6  reports.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Okay, I just got

          8  beeped, I have to be at a hearing very quickly and

          9  I'm behind schedule, and Council Member Nelson is

         10  going to continue the hearing, he has some questions

         11  of you.  But before I leave, I just want, and he

         12  will take the testimony from the other two witnesses

         13  that are here, I would like to continue this

         14  hearing, this is not going to be a closed hearing, I

         15  would like to continue this is about 30 days this

         16  hearing.  And I would like, first of all, if we

         17  could get Atefeh Riazzi at the next hearing,

         18  obviously, she is the one who knows what is going

         19  on, and I would like to see if we could get her for

         20  the next hearing, and you will have enough time to

         21  prepare and everything else, you know, I would like

         22  to get some more answers. And, also, by then, if we

         23  could get, and, also, if during that interim period

         24  if you could make sure that you meet with staff,

         25  because all this time you refused to meet with
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          2  staff, so that we can make sure that you meet with

          3  staff before that hearing.  And I would like, also,

          4  copies of the memos we talked about either to the

          5  Police Department, to the token booth clerks, to the

          6  system, itself, to the Adjudication Division, and,

          7  also, updating the brochure and giving a list of dos

          8  and don'ts, and any new brochures, probably put

          9  under brochures, explaining the rights of riders if

         10  they have the unlimited cards, and new posters and

         11  other educational materials used to address the

         12  issues, and to produce copies of the memos, you

         13  know, what I said, the token booth clerks, the

         14  Police Department, as well as the people that are

         15  the Adjudication Division.  Okay?  Do you have all

         16  that?

         17                 And what I would like, the best

         18  satisfaction I would have is in 30 days, you know

         19  what Council, you raised some good issues, these

         20  issues we addressed, and if afterwards if you called

         21  me and said, you know what, we need another 10 days,

         22  but I want to do it fast, I don't want to do it six

         23  months from now.  And say, you know, you raised the

         24  appropriate issues, you did the right thing, this is

         25  what we did, and then, you know what, I would be the
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          2  happiest person, and I'm sure you would agree, also,

          3  that we're not looking here for confrontation,

          4  we're, obviously, very concerned, there is obviously

          5  a problem, there is some breakdown somewhere, and I

          6  don't think you would tolerate that breakdown as

          7  well.

          8                 Go ahead, Council Member Nelson sit

          9  here.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Okay,

         11  where did everybody go?  Okay, almost every question

         12  was asked, so I'm not going to beat a dead horse,

         13  that is for sure.  It's the amount of information

         14  given, made this almost like a non- hearing,

         15  informative information as far as answers go.  I

         16  wish that Mr. Ruden or Mr. Conway could have been

         17  here.  You guys are getting all of the heat, and for

         18  that you can blame the MTA also, since we're blaming

         19  the MTA for everything else, because in a lot of

         20  cases you don't know the answers, and I hope that

         21  they would have.

         22                 The MTA appears to be like an

         23  unearthly entity, answer to both, to I'm not even

         24  sure, the Governor, the Mayor, and I believe they

         25  should be more answerable to a body such as ours.
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          2  The fact that they refused to answer other questions

          3  is, at least, to say inappropriate.

          4                 The stories that we heard today, I

          5  don't believe were necessarily so isolated, so I

          6  would be sure that they're not, I'm sure that these

          7  type of stories are probably bounding all over the

          8  City, which is a major concern.  I'm sure it's a

          9  major concern to yourselves too, if you would pull

         10  yourselves out of your positions, if it was a member

         11  of your family involved or yourselves for that

         12  matter.

         13                 But, anyway, to wrap it up, I think,

         14  the system appears to be broke, not the entire

         15  system, I'm not talking about the entire MTA, we're

         16  talking about certain areas, and what we are asking,

         17  of course, is, obviously, is, what attempts, what

         18  measures will be taken to fix it.  I think you want

         19  to look into this and bring back those answers to us

         20  in swiping, in double deductions, in lockouts, in

         21  card deterioration, and in turnstile equipment

         22  failures, I think that really sums it up, these are

         23  the areas that we are so concerned with and very

         24  much involved with, and as representatives of people

         25  in this City, it's our responsibility and our want
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          2  to find all of this stuff out.

          3                 So having said that, are there any

          4  other questions of any other members?  All right,

          5  there happens to be two more witnesses, we have with

          6  us, also, Mr. George Haikalis, are you here, Sir?

          7  And is Mr. James Levin here?  Mr. Levin, please,

          8  Sir?

          9                 MR. LEVIN: If the user- friendly

         10  Transit Authority people, MTA people, would mind

         11  staying, oh, they are, good.

         12                 My name is James Levin.  I'm an

         13  Emeritus Professor at the City University of New

         14  York, and an attorney in private practice, I'm a

         15  former member of the Human Rights Commission of the

         16  City of New York, and the Deputy- Chair of that

         17  Commission, and I'm here testifying for myself, not

         18  for a group.

         19                 This concerns Mr. Michael Reilly, who

         20  on the 5th of August 1998, dressed in a suit, was

         21  going to his job in Midtown Manhattan.  Happened to

         22  go into the 103rd Street subway stop, 103rd and

         23  Broadway on the 1 and 9 trains, it's a stop that I

         24  use regularly, so I'm familiar with the fact that

         25  there are lines at the token booth of, at least, 35
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          2  people almost any rush hour, despite the fact that

          3  regular users know the line is going to be there and

          4  certainly buy tokens or MetroCards in advance,

          5  complaints about this have never remedied the

          6  situation, no one seems to realize that the

          7  International Youth Hostel is a block away providing

          8  lots of temporary riders on the system which is

          9  crowded every day.

         10                 In addition to that there are four

         11  subway turnstiles, at least, two of them are out of

         12  order every morning, it seems that the person in the

         13  subway booth, who is the only person who can clean

         14  them, can't get out of the subway booth to clean

         15  them because of the lines of people waiting for

         16  tokens are too long.  That, of course, makes long

         17  lines of people standing in front of the machines

         18  trying to double, triple swipe, swipe 500 times

         19  because the machines aren't cleaned enough to read

         20  their cards.  When they finally go to another

         21  turnstile, of course, they get doubled charged.

         22                 Mr. Reilly having been doubled

         23  charged several times, and by the way, the computer

         24  printout showed that he had been doubled charged

         25  several times, finally called the police officer.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            129

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  The police officer on duty told him that she was

          3  unable to do anything.  He suggested that perhaps

          4  she might call for backup help for the people in the

          5  Transit booths so that things could be cleaned, and

          6  at that point the police officer told him to shut

          7  up.  He tried to get the people in the subway booth,

          8  but, of course, the person there was over occupied,

          9  probably couldn't hear because they are all so

         10  sealed in and can hardly hear you anyway, and so at

         11  that point he went under the subway turnstile.  The

         12  police officer arrested him, the police officer did

         13  not suggest that he go back out and go through

         14  another time, police officer did not suggest

         15  anything except for the fact that she was going to

         16  arrest him.

         17                 Now, by the way, a complaint has been

         18  made about that subway token booth operator, I can

         19  show you the correspondence if you want it, nothing

         20  has been done.  They said that nothing was done

         21  wrong by the subway token booth operator.  Also the

         22  name of the police officer, God knows where that is,

         23  as has been pointed out the token booth, the Transit

         24  Adjudication Bureau takes away the ticket, so you

         25  can't get that, so you can't make a complaint about
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          2  that matter, not that it would help anyway.

          3                 Mr. Reilly went to the Transit

          4  Adjudication Bureau, hired me as his attorney to

          5  take him there.  Now as a good attorney, I asked for

          6  the rules of procedure for the Tribunal, I was told

          7  I could not have them.  What is that all about,

          8  what, what, what is that all about?  I could not

          9  have the rules of the Tribunal, they were not

         10  published for attorneys.  When I got there, okay,

         11  with, you know, client with counsel, on a $60 ticket

         12  I signed in, in any other criminal part in this

         13  City, and I assure you, you know, I'm retired, as

         14  you heard, from the University and I have been

         15  practicing law for a very long time, in any other

         16  criminal part in this City, if someone signs in with

         17  private counsel, by courtesy of the court they're

         18  called before people who don't have counsel so the

         19  defendants don't have to pay their lawyers more for

         20  the time they're waiting.  I waited two hours,

         21  although I appeared there at the time that was on

         22  the ticket and I signed in immediately when I came.

         23                 You will hear that when I came back

         24  and it was adjourned to a particular time, I again

         25  signed in when I arrived and waited over two hours

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            131

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  before my case was called, that is outrageous, it is

          3  not consumer friendly, and you guys know it happens

          4  and you don't believe it.  And, frankly, by the way

          5  if your customer service bureau doesn't know it

          6  happens, I suggest that somebody who is in charge go

          7  sit down there at the TAB for a week and watch what

          8  happens, watch the disgruntled people who come out

          9  of there.

         10                 However, when I went into the TAB for

         11  my case I found out that the officer was not there.

         12  Now this is a criminal preceding, I want to cross-

         13  examine, right?  Well, I was told that I could

         14  adjourn the case and they would bring the officer

         15  in.  I also asked about the Transit printouts, in my

         16  practice when the State has a criminal proceeding

         17  against the defendant the burden of proof is on the

         18  State, in fact, it is a very heavy burden beyond a

         19  reasonable doubt.  When you go into the TAB you have

         20  to prove your innocence beyond a reasonable doubt,

         21  okay, and I asked people for some information there

         22  about the burden of proof and how it was adjudicated

         23  in that court, and how they read it, and again I was

         24  denied that there were any materials that could be

         25  given to me as a defense attorney.
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          2                 So I adjourned the case, came back

          3  another time with my client, again waited, came in,

          4  the police officer did not appear even though they

          5  had told me that they had subpoenaed her and she was

          6  supposed to appear.  So in the procedures that your

          7  lawyers used in these courts, I talked to the

          8  Administrative Law Judge and said, if I can give you

          9  enough information so that you can have a reason for

         10  dismissing this case, will that be possible, if not,

         11  I would like to come back another time and until the

         12  police officer comes here and I would like to give

         13  you the witnesses that I want to subpoena.  And, by

         14  the way, I wanted to subpoena witnesses to show that

         15  that computerized system that they have is

         16  inaccurate. And in any other criminal court where

         17  somebody was paying a fine based on something that

         18  was done by computer, you would have the right to

         19  prove the accuracy level of the computer, not just

         20  assume that the person who is trying to convict you

         21  has a computer in their hand and they're going to

         22  use the accuracy of it.

         23                 Well, I was asked to go out of the

         24  room, after I presented my information, I did show

         25  that the defendant had been doubled charged for
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          2  several times before, so it was my argument that he

          3  had already paid for his ride, and therefore, there

          4  was no theft of services.  The judge told me he

          5  would think about, you know, he would adjourned it

          6  to check whether or not that was enough to dismiss,

          7  and if not he would call back witnesses for another

          8  time.  But while I was out of the room, the judge

          9  decided the case against the client, when I

         10  protested and asked to come back into the hearing

         11  room and hear the record that showed that I had left

         12  only on the grounds that I would be allowed to

         13  continue the case, I was forcefully escorted out of

         14  the area there.  I do have the Administrative Law

         15  Judge's name, I have been writing to him and a man

         16  named John Ricci, who supposedly the Judicial

         17  Officer for the Transit Adjudication Bureau.  I

         18  would like to put his name on the record, I'm hoping

         19  that maybe somebody will find out how this man is

         20  qualified to be an Administrative Law Judge and lie

         21  to the public.  His name is Scott Goldfinger and his

         22  number is, No. 1190, I would appreciate it if you

         23  would take that down there, Scott Goldfinger, No.

         24  1190, and the other person's name is John Ricci, who

         25  has given me no satisfaction when writing this.
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          2                 Now, my client of course, after

          3  paying his $60 fine had a right to appeal.  But we

          4  have at this point is one citizen, who is not here,

          5  although he has been invited, because he is turned

          6  off by the total judicial system in New York City,

          7  because of the working of the Transit Authority.

          8  It's not only the Transit Authority that bothers

          9  him, like everybody up here said, we're all captive

         10  audience, we have to use the Transit Authority

         11  unless we're very wealthy, I'm not, so he has to

         12  continue to ride the Transit Authority, but who had

         13  nothing to do with judicial system in the New York

         14  City Council because he feels it's all stacked

         15  against him, and frankly, if I weren't making my

         16  living this way, I might walk away from all of this

         17  too.  This is horrendous, and there, you know, once

         18  again, you have asked for letters about complaints,

         19  my letters of complaints have gotten the same sort

         20  of double talk I heard up here about, well, you

         21  know, we will look into it, we will do something in

         22  the future if it is necessary.

         23                 Well, I have a lot of suggestions in

         24  my testimony of what you could do, if you don't want

         25  to abolish the Transit Adjudication Bureau and put
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          2  these cases back in the criminal court where they

          3  belong, which I think would save the citizens a

          4  great deal of expense and get them some fairness, if

          5  you don't want to do that, please, one, look at the

          6  qualifications for people who are Administrative Law

          7  Judges operating in the Transit Adjudication Bureau.

          8    The only thing that Mr. Ricci will tell me is,

          9  they had to practice law for two years, that is

         10  horrendous.  I don't know, Mr. Nelson, if you're an

         11  attorney, I know the attorney's who are up there,

         12  like Kathryn left at this point, two years and no

         13  checking if they have any criminal, jurors prudence

         14  background whatsoever, seems to me absurd.  Require

         15  at least five years, if you are going to leave that

         16  system open, and require that somebody had some

         17  background in the criminal justice system so that

         18  they know when cases are ridiculous.

         19                 That woman up here or that man, I

         20  don't care what the precedent was, no judge has to

         21  decide by precedence, they can make new precedence,

         22  and it was clearly a case where somebody should have

         23  had the sense to make a new precedent, if that was

         24  one. Certainly, make sure that the rules are

         25  published for all attorneys and that they are easily
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          2  available for any attorney who wants to operate

          3  there.

          4                 There are many more things I think I

          5  could say up here today about the operation of this

          6  system.  I think that Council Member Freed said

          7  things best when she said that we all have the

          8  feeling who ride on this or use this thing that it

          9  is terribly user unfriendly.  In all my practice in

         10  the court, I have never had a court room experience,

         11  and I have been through many, many administrative

         12  bodies, I have been through the local courts,

         13  through the federal courts, pretty much from top to

         14  bottom, you heard some of my credentials, this is a

         15  total outrage.  And, Sir, if you are Counsel to this

         16  body and you don't know how your Adjudication Bureau

         17  is working and it operates in this kind of

         18  ridiculous manner, it doesn't give anybody either a

         19  basic constitutional rights to confront a witness,

         20  it doesn't put the burden of proof in the right

         21  place, it doesn't even provide attorney's rules of

         22  the court on the way it operates, you should be

         23  terribly ashamed of yourself, you shouldn't put any

         24  deadline on it, you should call those people in

         25  tomorrow morning and get this Tribunal worked out
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          2  right so people have a fair opportunity, even if the

          3  rest of the system like the token booth and the cop

          4  screws up.  You sat up here and you said you thought

          5  that was terrible, but I didn't hear you saying,

          6  God, we have got control totally over the TAB, why

          7  don't we get in there and find out how it's

          8  operating and operate properly, it shouldn't be

          9  necessary for me to tell you that you need to do

         10  that.

         11                 And I thank you for listening to me.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank

         13  you, Mr. Levin. This is from a legal person who was

         14  involved with this system. Again, I'm sure there are

         15  probably hundreds of attorneys who are involved in

         16  these types of problems.  It appears obvious that we

         17  do have like a sort of chamber going on in there, as

         18  the Chair referred to before as the kangaroo court,

         19  but with total power.  I would like that to be

         20  looked into too, and Mr. Levin's testimony, if you

         21  would and his statements and suggestions, and

         22  stations that should be ID'd, if they haven't been

         23  already, non- working booths and cleaned.  There

         24  must be some stations that have this problem,

         25  perhaps there are more stations, more significantly
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          2  than others based upon the ridership and maybe just

          3  because the machines are older, I don't know the

          4  answer to that one.

          5                 It's a new system to a degree, to a

          6  large degree, some parts of this are, and there are

          7  always problems and the MTA's attitude should, of

          8  course, be, oh, it's a problem here let's fix it,

          9  and, of course, not a defensive attitude towards it,

         10  and I think that is probably was the matic through

         11  today's hearing overall, and you're representing the

         12  MTA, and I think that is just right down from the

         13  top, overall, it's like, hey, what do we worry

         14  about, who is going to make us change, is the

         15  Governor, is the Mayor?  I don't know if the

         16  Governor or the Mayor has any officers that have

         17  actually been asking you these questions, they're

         18  the ones that are supposed to, I don't know, I would

         19  like to know.

         20                 So here we are, we can't really put

         21  dynamite underneath you, unfortunately, but we can

         22  try to get answers, I think that the public demands

         23  that we do, and I think you should want to react, if

         24  you don't have to react that much to everything

         25  we're asking to the public, they're ultimately all
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          2  of our bosses, and I think the Mayor and the

          3  Governor feel the same way, and I believe they

          4  should be as concerned as we are, I believe they

          5  are. So I only hope that they are as passionate

          6  about this as the Council has been.

          7                 Having said that, anyone else, that

          8  is all, that concludes today's meeting.  Thank you.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 3:35 p.m.)

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            140

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 13th day of April 1999.

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            141

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              PAT WTULICH

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410
